COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

between

THE CITY OF SCRANTON

and

FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE E.B. JERMYN LODGE NO. 2

Effective Date:

January 1, 2008 - December 31, 2021





TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I	RECOGNITION	2
ARTICLE II	WAGES	3
ARTICLE III	OVERTIME PAY	7
ARTICLE IV	LONGEVITY PAY	9
ARTICLE V	SEVERANCE PAY	10
ARTICLE VI	BEREAVEMENT PAY	10
ARTICLE VII	PAID HOLIDAYS	10
ARTICLE VIII	VACATION	11
ARTICLE IX	EDUCATIONAL PAY	12
ARTICLE X	SICK LEAVE	12
ARTICLE XI	FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE	13
ARTICLE XII	UNIFORM AND CLOTHING ALLOWANCE	14
ARTICLE XIII	SAFETY AND PROTECTION EQUIPMENT	
ARTICLE XIV	t AUXILIARY AND MISCELLANEOUS EQUIPMENT, BOOKS, STUDY MATER AND OTHER MISCELLANEOUS PROFESSIONAL PERSONAL PROPERTY	
ARTICLE XV	COURT APPEARANCES	15
ARTICLE XVI	EXTRA OUTSIDE ASSIGNMENTS	15
ARTICLE XVII	POLICE OFFICERS ARE NOT TO BE USED AS POLICE OR FIRE DISPATCH	
ARTICLE XVIII	DESIGNATED HOURS OF WORK	16
ARTICLE XIX	GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	16
ARTICLE XX	SENIORITY	17
ARTICLE XXI	BIDDING PROCEDURE	19
ARTICLE XXII	HEALTH INSURANCE	20
ARTICLE XXIII	LIFE INSURANCE	25
ARTICLE XXIV	FALSE ARREST INSURANCE	25

ARTICLE XXV	MISCELLANEOUS	25
ARTICLE XXVI	PAST AGREEMENTS, ARBITRATION AWARDS AND PAST PRACTICES	28
ARTICLE XXVII	PROHIBITION AGAINST DISCRIMINATION	29
ARTICLE XXVIII	LIGHT DUTY	29
ARTICLE XXIX	HEART AND LUNG BENEFITS	30
ARTICLE XXX	PENSION	31
ARTICLE XXXI	DRUG TESTING	31
ARTICLE XXXII	DURATION	32

EXHIBITS TO COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

- EXHIBIT A 1999 AMENDED STRATEGIC IMPLEMENTATION TEAM AGREEMENT
- EXHIBIT B RULES AND REGULATIONS TO HELP INTERPRET SENIORITY AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF SCRANTON AND FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE, E.B. JERMYN LODGE NO. 2 AND THE SCRANTON CITY POLICE OFFICERS
- EXHIBIT C JANUARY, 1991 RETIREE HEALTH INSURANCE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
- EXHIBIT D DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY OF THE CITY OF SCRANTON FOR POLICE OFFICERS

ARTICLE I RECOGNITION

İ

Section 1. The City hereby recognizes the Fraternal Order of Police, E.B. Jermyn Lodge No. 2 as the sole and exclusive representative of the employees of the Bureau of Police employed by the City of Scranton.

Section 2. Strategic Implementation Team

A. In order to continue the parties' joint efforts to professionalize the Police Department, the parties recognize the need to restructure the Department. To that end, the PEL Recovery Plan provides a broad plan for that restructuring that the parties realize may be refined or modified in order to accomplish that restructuring in a manner that balances the interests of the City's fiscal needs, the safety of the City's citizenry, the effective operation of the Department and the interests, rights and safety of the police officers and FOP.

B. To accomplish that restructuring, a Strategic Implementation Team shall be formed within fourteen (14) days of the effective date of the 1995-2002 Agreement. The Strategic Implementation Team shall be chaired by the Recovery Plan Coordinator and will be comprised of the Coordinator, the Superintendent of Police, two designees of the City and three (3) members selected by the FOP. Attorneys for the parties shall be *ex officio* members. If scheduled to work, FOP designees will be permitted to attend meetings and perform reasonable Committee functions directly related to the Committee as authorized by the Committee on a uniform, nondiscriminatory basis, which authorization shall not be unreasonably withheld, on City time with no adjustment of schedule.

C. The Strategic Implementation Team shall develop an implementation plan and timetable within six (6) months of convening, which shall be subject to the approval of the Plan Coordinator, the City of Scranton and the FOP.

D. Once approved by all three parties, the terms shall be binding on all three parties. If any party does not approve the implementation plan, the matter shall be submitted for resolution by binding arbitration in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. Pending the results of such arbitration, no effort shall be made to implement any portion of the plan.

E. The parties recognize and agree that the implementation plan may positively or negatively affect the seniority rights of the bargaining unit so as to require rebidding of some or all

positions in accordance with the plan.

F. The parties' current amended Strategic Implementation Committee agreement of 1999, as amended in 2015, shall be continued in full force and effect as set forth in Exhibit "A."

Section 3. Pension Board. The representatives of the active and retired Police Officers on the Pension Board and the Joint Pension Board shall be selected and shall serve in accordance with the procedures to be determined by the FOP.

ARTICLE II WAGES

Section 1. Base Wages with Rank Differential

The base wage rate paid to all members of the bargaining unit (with appropriate adjustment to ranks) shall be increased across the board as follows:

A.	January 1, 2008	7%
B.	January 1, 2009	2%
C.	July 1, 2009	2%
D.	January 1, 2010	2%
E.	July 1, 2010	2%
F.	January 1, 2011	2%
G.	July 1, 2011	2%
H.	January 1, 2012	2%
I.	July 1, 2012	2%
J.	January 1, 2013	2.2%
K.	July 1, 2013	2.2%
L.	January 1, 2014	2.2%
M.	July 1, 2014	2.2%
N.	January 1, 2015	1.75%
O.	January 1, 2016	1.75%

Р.	January 1, 2017	1.75%
Q.	January 1, 2018	1.00%
R.	July 1, 2018	1.00%
S.	January 1, 2019	1.00%
T.	July 1, 2019	1.00%
U.	January 1, 2020	1.00%
V.	July 1, 2020	1.50%
W.	January 1, 2021	1.00%
X.	July 1, 2021	1.50%

The base wages of the members of the bargaining unit shall be as follows, with the ranks above that of Officer by current category to be separated by 4 %:

	1/1/2008	1/1/2009	7/1/2009	1/1/2010	7/1/2010
Rank	7.00%	2.00%	2.00%	2.00%	2.00%
Patrol Officer 5th Yr	\$48,615.61	\$49,587.92	\$50,579.68	\$51,591.27	\$52,623.10
Corporal	\$50,560.23	\$51,571.44	\$52,602.87	\$53,654.93	\$54,728.02
Juvenile Officer	\$52,582.64	\$53,634.30	\$54,706.98	\$55,801.12	\$56,917.14
Sergeant	\$54,685.95	\$55,779.67	\$56,895.26	\$58,033.17	\$59,193.83
Detective	\$54,685.95	\$55,779.67	\$56,895.26	\$58,033.17	\$59,193.83
Arson Investigator	\$56,873.39	\$58,010.86	\$59,171.07	\$60,354.49	\$61,561.58
Detective Sergeant	\$56,873.39	\$58,010.86	\$59,171.07	\$60,354.49	\$61,561.58
Lieutenant	\$59,148.32	\$60,331.29	\$61,537.92	\$62,768.67	\$64,024.05
Detective Lieutenant	\$61,514.26	\$62,744.54	\$63,999.43	\$65,279.42	\$66,585.01
Captain	\$63,974.83	\$65,254.32	\$66,559.41	\$67,890.60	\$69,248.41
Detective Captain	\$66,533.82	\$67,864.50	\$69,221.79	\$70,606.22	\$72,018.35

	1/1/2011	7/1/2011	1/1/2012	7/1/2012	1/1/2013
Rank	2.00%	2.00%	2.00%	2.00%	2.20%
Patrol Officer 5th Yr	\$53,675.56	\$54,749.07	\$55,844.05	\$56,960.94	\$58,214.08
Corporal	\$55,822.58	\$56,939.04	\$58,077.82	\$59,239.37	\$60,542.64
Juvenile Officer	\$58,055.49	\$59,216.60	\$60,400.93	\$61,608.95	\$62,964.34
Sergeant	\$60,377.71	\$61,585.26	\$62,816.97	\$64,073.31	\$65,482.92
Detective	\$60,377.71	\$61,585.26	\$62,816.97	\$64,073.31	\$65,482.92
Arson Investigator	\$62,792.82	\$64,048.67	\$65,329.65	\$66,636.24	\$68,102.24
Detective Sergeant	\$62,792.82	\$64,048.67	\$65,329.65	\$66,636.24	\$68,102.24
Lieutenant	\$65,304.53	\$66,610.62	\$67,942.83	\$69,301.69	\$70,826.32
Detective Lieutenant	\$67,916.71	\$69,275.04	\$70,660.54	\$72,073.76	\$73,659.38
Captain	\$70,633.38	\$72,046.05	\$73,486.97	\$74,956.71	\$76,605.75
Detective Captain	\$73,458.71	\$74,927.89	\$76,426.44	\$77,954.97	\$79,669.98

	7/1/2013	1/1/2014	7/1/2014	1/1/2015	1/1/2016	1/1/2017
Rank	2.20%	2.20%	2.20%	1.75%	1.75%	1.75%
Patrol Officer 5th Yr	\$59,494.79	\$60,803.67	\$62,141.35	\$63,228.83	\$64,335.33	\$65,461.20
Corporal	\$61,874.58	\$63,235.82	\$64,627.01	\$65,757.98	\$66,908.74	\$68,079.65
Juvenile Officer	\$64,349.56	\$65,765.25	\$67,212.09	\$68,388.30	\$69,585.09	\$70,802.83
Sergeant	\$66,923.54	\$68,395.86	\$69,900.57	\$71,123.83	\$72,368.50	\$73,634.95
Detective	\$66,923.54	\$68,395.86	\$69,900.57	\$71,123.83	\$72,368.50	\$73,634.95
Arson Investigator	\$69,600.48	\$71,131.70	\$72,696.59	\$73,968.78	\$75,263.24	\$76,580.34
Detective Sergeant	\$69,600.48	\$71,131.70	\$72,696.59	\$73,968.78	\$75,263.24	\$76,580.34
Lieutenant	\$72,384.50	\$73,976.96	\$75,604.46	\$76,927.53	\$78,273.77	\$79,643.56
Detective Lieutenant	\$75,279.88	\$76,936.04	\$78,628.63	\$80,004.64	\$81,404.72	\$82,829.30
Captain	\$78,291.08	\$80,013.48	\$81,773.78	\$83,204.82	\$84,660.91	\$86,142.47
Detective Captain	\$81,422.72	\$83,214.02	\$85,044.73	\$86,533.01	\$88,047.34	\$89,588.17

	1/1/2018	7/1/2018	1/1/2019	7/1/2019	1/1/2020	7/1/2020
Rank	1.00%	1.00%	1.00%	1.00%	1.00%	1.50%
Patrol Officer 5th Yr	\$66,115.81	\$66,776.97	\$67,444.74	\$68,119.19	\$68,800.38	\$69,832.38
Corporal	\$68,760.44	\$69,448.05	\$70,142.53	\$70,843.95	\$71,552.39	\$72,625.68
Juvenile Officer	\$71,510.86	\$72,225.97	\$72,948.23	\$73,677.71	\$74,414.49	\$75,530.71
Sergeant	\$74,371.29	\$75,115.01	\$75,866.16	\$76,624.82	\$77,391.07	\$78,551.93
Detective	\$74,371.29	\$75,115.01	\$75,866.16	\$76,624.82	\$77,391.07	\$78,551.93
Arson Investigator	\$77,346.15	\$78,119.61	\$78,900.80	\$79,689.81	\$80,486.71	\$81,694.01
Detective Sergeant	\$77,346.15	\$78,119.61	\$78,900.80	\$79,689.81	\$80,486.71	\$81,694.01
Lieutenant	\$80,439.99	\$81,244.39	\$82,056.84	\$82,877.40	\$83,706.18	\$84,961.77
Detective Lieutenant	\$83,657.59	\$84,494.17	\$85,339.11	\$86,192.50	\$87,054.43	\$88,360.24
Captain	\$87,003.90	\$87,873.93	\$88,752.67	\$89,640.20	\$90,536.60	\$91,894.65
Detective Captain	\$90,484.05	\$91,388.89	\$92,302.78	\$93,225.81	\$94,158.07	\$95,570.44

	1//1/2021 1.00%	7/1/2021 1.50%
Patrol Officer 5th Yr	\$70,530.71	\$71,588.67
Corporal	\$73,351.93	\$74,452.21
Juvenile Officer	\$76,286.01	\$77,430.30
Sergeant	\$79,337.45	\$80,527.51
Detective	\$79,337.45	\$80,527.51
Arson Investigator	\$82,510.95	\$83,748.62
Detective Sergeant	\$82,510.95	\$83,748.62
Lieutenant	\$85,811.39	\$87,098.56
Detective Lieutenant	\$89,243.84	\$90,582.50
Captain	\$92,813.60	\$94,205.80
Detective Captain	\$96,526.14	\$97,974.03

Section 2. Acting Pay. A Police Officer working at a higher rank to cover an absence for any reason contemplated to be of thirty days or more on the part of the higher ranked officer shall be paid at the rate of the higher rank if acting for a complete regular shift or longer after the first thirty (30) days of vacancy to cover an absence within Division on the part of the higher ranked Officer. Outside of the Division acting pay shall be paid after the first sixty (60) days of vacancy.

Section 3. Police Officers Hired After January 1, 1990

A. Effective January 1, 1993, any police officer first employed on or after January 1, 1990 shall be compensated in the following manner:

1. 80% of a 2nd Year Police Officer's base wage rate during the first

year of employment; and
100% of a 2nd Year Police Officer's base wage rate as of the first day of the second year of employment.

B. All current members of the bargaining unit who were first employed on or after January 1, 1990 shall receive a base wage adjustment as of January 1, 1993 in accordance with the above, i.e., to the extent that they are still in the first year of their employment as of the date on which this Agreement is ratified, they shall receive 80%; to the extent that they have been employed one year or more on or after January 1, 1993, they shall receive 100% of the police officer's base as of January 1, 1993. This section shall not be construed to require a pay adjustment for time worked prior to January 1, 1993.

C. This provision shall apply only to bargaining unit members who are appointed as regular full-time members of the bargaining unit on or after January 1, 1990. Regular full-time employment shall not include provisional employment. "Regular full-time" employment shall include, however, any current bargaining unit member who was eligible to take the civil service examination for the position of regular Patrol Officer administered by the Civil Service Commission in 1989 and who was employed as a Police Officer on a full-time basis for at least five (5) years prior thereto.

Section 4. Police Officers Hired After January 30, 2015

Any Officer first hired after January 30, 2015 shall be paid, in addition to longevity, the

following percentage of a Patrol Officer's top base without longevity:

First Year	60%
Second Year	70%
Third Year	80%
Fourth Year	90%
Fifth Year	100%

ARTICLE III OVERTIME PAY

Section 1. Overtime after 40 hours at the rate of time and one half the base rate of pay shall be paid to all ranks.

Section 2. One hour's overtime at the rate of time and one half shall be paid when at least thirty (30) minutes of extra work in completed. If under thirty (30) minutes of extra work is performed, no extra compensation shall be due or owing.

Section 3. Longevity shall be included in the computation of overtime.

Section 4. In the event that any bargaining unit member is required to work in a TC day by the Superintendent of Police or his designee, he/she shall be compensated at time and one half $(1\frac{1}{2})$ of that as well as an additional TC day that he shall select in the future.

Section 5. In lieu of cash overtime otherwise provided here, a bargaining unit member may elect to accept compensatory time if and only if the City strictly adheres to the following:

- A. The election may be made with respect to each instance of overtime; and
- B. The election will be made on a mutually-acceptable form for each such instance, which form will be maintained by the Department for inspection and copying by the FOP.
- C. The bargaining unit member will receive one and half hour of compensatory time when at least thirty (30) minutes of extra work is completed. If under thirty (30) minutes of extra work is performed, no extra compensation shall be due or owing. After the first half-hour, the employee will receive compensatory time at one and one-half times the minutes of overtime worked.
- D. No pressure or influence of any nature shall be applied to any bargaining unit member to elect compensatory time rather than cash in payment for overtime.
- E. No bargaining unit member shall be discriminated against in any fashion for his/her refusal to accept compensatory time in lieu of cash overtime.
- F. The City shall maintain detailed records of all compensatory time accrued by bargaining unit members and shall make those records available to the FOP for inspection upon request.
- G. A bargaining unit member shall be permitted to utilize accrued compensatory time at his or her convenience, provided that such use does not unduly disrupt the operation of the Division to which said bargaining unit member is assigned.
- H. While every effort will be made to permit a bargaining unit member to utilize accrued compensatory time at a time agreeable to the bargaining unit member, no bargaining unit member will be required to utilize more than 20% of his or her existing accrual at any one time.
- I. In the event that a bargaining unit member is unable to utilize his/her accrued compensatory time prior to the end of the calendar year, the bargaining unit member may elect to be paid for all or a part of the accrued compensatory time in cash in the first paycheck of the following calendar year.

Section 6. Vacancies that arise as a result of compliance with a mandation shall be filled as

follows:

a. Commencing in reverse seniority and thus preceding through the seniority list.

b. Officers shall have two early passes on mandation in each calendar year. The passes cannot be carried over.

c. If working overtime on vacation or days off, the Officer shall be the last to be mandated.

ARTICLE IV LONGEVITY PAY

Section 1. In addition to base salary and as provided below, all Officers shall receive longevity pay as follows:

Number of Years	% of Annual Base Salary
2-3	2
4-5	3
6-7	4
8-9	5
10-11	6
12-13	7
14-15	8
16-17	9
18-19	10
20-21	11
22-23	12
24-25	13
26-27	14
28-29	15
30	16

Section 2. Effective January 1, 1993 and for the duration of this Agreement there shall be a maximum longevity payment of 10% for any bargaining unit employee who currently receives 10% or less. To the extent that a member of the bargaining unit was receiving as of January 1, 1993 in excess of 10%, that individual shall be frozen at the current percentage level.

Section 3. Any member of the bargaining unit first employed by the City as a member of the bargaining unit subsequent to June 1, 2012 shall receive longevity as follows:

NUMBER OF YEARS	% OF ANNUAL BASE
2-4	1%
5-9	2%

10-14	3%
15-19	4%
20+	5%

ARTICLE V SEVERANCE PAY

Section 1. Each bargaining unit member who retires on the basis of longevity of service and age shall receive a one time benefit equal to one (1) month's pay for 25 to 29 years of service in the Police Department, two months pay for those hired prior to January 1, 1964 and 1 1/2 month's pay for 30 or more years of service in the Police Department by those hired after January 1, 1964. Bargaining unit members who retire on disability after having completed twenty-five (25) or more years of service in the Police Department shall be eligible for this benefit.

Section 2. Bargaining unit members as of January 30, 2015 who retire within the time limits set forth below shall receive upon termination the following lump sum bonuses:

a. Within 120 days of January 30, 2015 if currently eligible as of January 30, 2015, or within 120 days of retirement eligibility - \$10,000.00.

b. Within 150 days of January 30, 2015 if currently eligible as of January 30, 2015, or within 150 days of retirement eligibility - \$7,500.00.

c. Within 180 days of January 30, 2015 if currently eligible as of January 30, 2015, or within 180 days of retirement eligibility - \$5,000.00.

ARTICLE VI BEREAVEMENT PAY

Section 1. Each employee shall be permitted to be absent from work with pay for the scheduled work shifts during four (4) consecutive days including the date of the funeral of said employee's wife, husband, child, mother, father, sister, brother, grandparents, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law and grandchildren.

ARTICLE VII PAID HOLIDAYS

Section 1. Each employee shall be entitled to thirteen (13) paid holidays and two (2) personal leave days per year. Effective January 1, 1991 Martin Luther King Day shall be added as an additional paid holiday.

Section 2. The employee shall request the personal leave day at least one (1) shift prior

to the date of its intended use. Such leave requests shall not be unreasonably denied.

ARTICLE VIII VACATION

Section 1. All employees hired after January 30, 2015 will have the following vacation schedule:

- a. 1-2 years two weeks
- b. 3-10 years three weeks
- c. 11-18 years four weeks
- d. Over 18 years five weeks

All employees hired prior to the ratification of this agreement will receive the following

vacation schedule:

a.	1-10 years inclusive	3 weeks
b.	11-18 years inclusive	4 weeks
c.	Over 18 years	5 weeks

Section 2. Vacations may be selected and be taken at any time throughout the entire year, subject to Captain's approval.

Section 3. The Police Officers shall select their vacation period according to seniority and each time the Officers select their vacation period, they shall select two (2) weeks of their vacations. Entitled Officers will rebid according to seniority for additional vacation allowances.

Section 4. The parties are in agreement that all bidding procedures will occur in November and December and results of all bidding will become effective on January 1.

Section 5. Military leave taken by a Police Officer shall not be subtracted from the Police Officer's regular vacation time. The said Military leave shall be limited to two (2) weeks per year. members who were activated in the National Guard and Reserve and are required to attend weekend training shall do so without utilizing military days, personal days or switching days off. If the Officer is scheduled off on those days, no additional days shall be forthcoming.

If an Officer is activated, service members will receive a \$500 per month stipend. The City will continue to provide medical coverage and pension payments. The service member will not be required to use any accrued time prior to receiving said stipend, but may opt to use some or all accrued time commencing with activation, with any remaining time carried over to the following year. Any accrued time not used will be used prior to the service member returning to work following activation.

ARTICLE IX EDUCATIONAL PAY

Section 1. Each Police Officer who has completed, or will complete, the requirements for an Associate Degree (60 college credits) shall receive an additional one percent (1% of the Officer's regular base pay for that year.

Section 2. Each Police Officer who has been awarded a College Degree or who earns one during the course of this contract shall receive an additional two percent (2%) of the Police Officer's regular base pay.

Section 3. The education pay reflected above shall be as follows:

a)	Associate's Degree		1.5%	
b)	College Degree		2.5%	
		o 001 I		

c) 3.25% for each Police Officer who has been awarded a Masters Degree or who earns one during the course of this contract.

ARTICLE X SICK LEAVE

Section 1. Except as specifically provided herein, current members of the bargaining unit as of December 31, 1989 shall continue to enjoy the sick leave policy in effect as of December 31, 1989.

Section 2. The following sick leave program shall apply only to individuals who became members of the bargaining unit on or after January 1, 1990.

A. Full-time employees shall be allowed 1.5 days of sick leave for each month of service. Sick leave shall be earned by an employee for any month in which the employee is in active pay status for ten (10) or more working days. Employees shall be eligible to take such leave after thirty (30) days service with the Employer.

B. Employees shall earn sick leave from their date of hire and may accumulate sick leave without a limit on accumulation.

C. Unused sick time payouts upon retirement will be on a sliding scale as follows:

1-99	25%
100-199	50%
200-240	75%
Over 240	100%

D. A doctor's certificate is required for an absence from work due to sickness for three

(3) or more consecutive days. For absences of less that three (3) days, a doctor's certificate may be required where the Employer has reason to believe that the employee is abusing his/her sick leave privileges.

E. Where sickness in the immediate family requires the employee's absence from work employees may use not more than five (5) days of such sick leave entitlement in each calendar year for that purpose. Immediate family is defined as the following persons residing in the employee's household: husband, wife, child or parent of the employee. The Employer may require proof of such family sickness in accordance with Section (d) above.

F. Sick leave usage shall be charged first against current year accrual before any charge is made against unused sick leave that had been accrued in prior years and then against that accrued in the most recent prior year or years.

G. Any Officer who works a calendar year without utilizing any sick leave and without using any unpaid leave will be entitled to a 1.5% of base plus longevity bonus. Any Officer using two (2) days or less in the calendar year will be paid a 1% of base plus longevity bonus. The bonus will be paid within the first two pay period of the subsequent year.

H. Any Officer who takes unpaid time off will be charged one (1) day seniority per day for each such absence.

I. Any Officer who leaves a shift early due to illness will be docked one half of a sick day.

Section 3. The sick leave program herein shall be administered in a fair and equitable manner in accordance with reasonable written directives not in violation of this Agreement.

Section 4. The City shall grant a maternity leave of twelve weeks of paid leave with benefits to any eligible bargaining unit member who so requests. The leave shall commence from the date that the bargaining unit member delivers her child.

ARTICLE XI FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE

Section 1. The City shall provide up to ten (10) days time off with no reduction in pay to one of the Police Officers if he is a duly elected Officer of the National or State Fraternal Order of Police to attend its convention or to conduct other official business on its behalf.

Section 2. The City shall provide up to five (5) days time off with no reduction in pay to no more than five (5) Police Officers who are duly elected officers of the National, State or

Local Fraternal Order of Police to attend their convention or to conduct other official business on their behalf.

Section 3. The City agrees to provide reasonable board space labeled with the FOP's name where notices of official FOP matters may be posted by the FOP.

Section 4. The FOP shall be provided, free of charge, a reasonable amount of secure office space within police headquarters with which to perform its duties.

Section 5. The FOP President shall be assigned to a mutually agreeable Special Duty position with the Department. He/she will answer to the Division Command to which he/she is currently assigned. The City shall have the discretion as to whether to fill the vacancy with an actor. This position shall not be included in the determination as to whether compliance with Section X of the 1999 SIT Agreement is achieved.

If the agreement cannot be achieved with regard to the Special Duty Position within the Department that is to be filled by the President, the FOP President will be permitted one (1) paid day each week in which to conduct FOP business, if necessary. The particular day must be mutually agreed upon between the FOP President and his/her Division Commander. If agreement with respect to the day off cannot be achieved, the day shall be a day consecutive with his/her bid days off.

Section 6. If it does not unduly interfere with the performance of duties, an authorized representative of the FOP shall be permitted to address roll calls for not more than ten minutes, to conduct FOP contractual business and to investigate grievances on City property while on duty without interference by the City or loss of time.

ARTICLE XII UNIFORM AND CLOTHING ALLOWANCE

Section 1. The uniform and clothing allowance and maintenance of said uniforms and clothing shall be \$730.00 per year per Police Officer.

Section 2. In addition, the said clothing allowance shall be paid to the Police Officers within the first three pay periods which are due after January 1.

Section 3. If the City mandates any change in uniforms, auxiliary equipment or clothing, the City shall pay the full cost thereof.

Section 4. The City will continue to pay the Police Officers their uniform and clothing allowance as the City has done in the past, with no changes.

ARTICLE XIII SAFETY AND PROTECTION EQUIPMENT

Section 1. The parties are in agreement that the City shall provide bulletproof vests, ammunition and other necessary safety equipment.

Section 2. Each member of the bargaining unit shall be provided with a bullet resistant vest of a nature and type to be agreed upon by the City and the FOP. Each such vest shall be automatically replaced at the expiration of the minimum useful life suggested by the manufacturer.

Section 3. As soon as practicable after being first employed and receiving appropriate training, each member of the bargaining unit shall be issued a Glock 9mm. weapon as his/her service weapon.

Section 4. No police officer shall be required to utilize a City vehicle that would not pass a State inspection.

ARTICLE XIV

AUXILIARY AND MISCELLANEOUS EQUIPMENT, BOOKS, STUDY MATERIAL AND OTHER MISCELLANEOUS PROFESSIONAL PERSONAL PROPERTY

Section 1. If during the year the City makes it mandatory that members of the Police Force be required to purchase a piece of equipment, or other items for the performance of their duties, which are not considered to be normal uniform apparel, the City shall be responsible for obtaining same.

ARTICLE XV COURT APPEARANCES

Section 1. In the event that any member of the bargaining unit is required to appear outside his normal scheduled shift at any court of record, before the minor judiciary, at a coroner's inquest or at any other administrative or judicial proceeding, when the Police Officer is required to attend, as a prosecutor or as a witness in connection with its official duties, the Police Officer shall be compensated at a minimum of three (3) hours pay at his/her normal hourly work rate or for all hours actually expended, whichever is greater.

ARTICLE XVI EXTRA OUTSIDE ASSIGNMENTS

Section 1. Extra outside jobs shall be provided to each Police Officer on a rotating basis according to seniority and the Police Officer shall receive his regular hourly rate of pay for such work performed.

ARTICLE XVII POLICE OFFICERS ARE NOT TO BE USED AS POLICE OR FIRE DISPATCHERS

Section 1. Effective January 1, 1987, the City of Scranton will no longer use Police Officers as police or fire dispatchers, except in extreme emergencies.

ARTICLE XVIII DESIGNATED HOURS OF WORK

Section 1. The following hours are established for Captains and Lieutenants of the uniform Patrol Division and for every officer acting in their capacity. Designated hours for the day shift, second shift and third shift shall be as follows:

Day Shift Second Shift Third Shift 0630 hours - 1430 hours 1430 hours - 2230 hours 2230 hours - 0630 hours

Section 2. Furthermore, the hours of Traffic Division Corporal are 0800 - 1600 hours, and the hours for the Crime Prevention Lieutenant are 0800 hours - 1600 hours.

ARTICLE XIX GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

Section 1. There shall be a detailed grievance and arbitration procedure, which shall commence with the grievance committee of the Scranton Police Department. The aggrieved party shall submit a written and signed grievance to the Grievance Committee.

Section 2. The Committee shall take the grievance and decide on the merits of the case. The Committee or Grievance Officer will try to resolve the Grievance with the Officer in charge of the shift, if possible. If the mater cannot be resolved at this level, the Committee will submit the grievance to the Chief of Police. The Chief of Police will have twenty-four (24) hours to resolve the grievance, but this can be extended for another forty-eight (48) hours if the Chief requests the extension to the Grievance Committee.

Section 3. If the Chief cannot resolve the grievance within that time, it shall be appealed to the Mayor and the Mayor shall render a decision, in writing, within five (5) working days. A decision on the grievance will not exceed ten (10) days. If a decision is not made within the ten (10) days, it will be considered an impasse and all parties hereby agree to submit the matter to binding and compulsory arbitration. Only if extenuating circumstances exist and it is agreed by both the Chief and the Grievance Committee will the ten (10) days be extended.

Section 4. If an impartial arbitrator cannot be agreed upon, the said impartial arbitrator shall be selected in accordance with the Rules of the American Arbitration Association.

Section 5. The decision of said arbitrator shall be final and binding upon all parties and there shall be no appeal from said decision.

Section 6. All arbitration costs shall be divided equally between both parties.

Section 7. No individual has a right to file a grievance. All grievances must be submitted to the members of the Grievance Committee of the Scranton Police Department. All grievances shall be handled by the members of the Grievance Committee and not by the individual.

Section 8. In the event the Mayor and the Chief are not available to handle the grievance, it can be referred to the Deputy Mayor and/or Deputy Chief.

Section 9. With respect to grievances that are initiated after the ratification of this Agreement, in the event that the Arbitrator shall determine that either party acted in bad faith with regard to the facts underlying the issues or with regard to the conduct of the proceedings, the Arbitrator is empowered to assess all or a portion of the fees and expenses incurred in the presentation of the case and reasonable attorneys' fees as an element of damage. Furthermore, should the Arbitrator direct a financial remedy, such remedy shall commence to run from the date of the violation and shall bear an interest rate from that date equal to the six (6) month United States treasury bill rate, adjusted for each calendar quarter that such remedy is payable, as was in effect from the date that the violation occurred to the date that payment is made.

Section 10. No bargaining unit member shall be discharged, disciplined or demoted except for just cause. In the event that an employee should determine to utilize the grievance procedure contained herein to challenge any such issue, he shall be deemed to have waived his right to pursue statutory remedies provided under the Second Class A Code and/or civil service regulations. In the event that such employee should pursue statutory remedies provided under the Second Class A Code and/or civil service regulations to challenge such issue, he/she shall be deemed to have waived his/her right to pursue a grievance under the procedure provided herein.

ARTICLE XX SENIORITY

Section 1. The seniority principle and its application shall be developed by a joint committee of the Fraternal Order of Police Local and the City authorities.

Section 2. The seniority principle shall be applied in the Scranton City Police Department on a department-wide basis and shall include every position in the Scranton City Police Department with the exception of the following:

- A. Traffic Control Repair Sergeant;
- B. Traffic Division Sergeant;
- C. School Patrolman Supervisor;
- D. Chief Clerk to the Superintendent of Police.

Section 3. The positions which are not now covered by seniority will remain uncovered by seniority during the term of this Agreement with the additional provision that the City will agree not to certify the following:

- A. School Patrolman Supervisor;
- B. Two (2) Clerks to the Superintendent of Police.

Section 4. The position of Administrative Lieutenant and Traffic Division Corporal are subject to the Seniority Agreement and to bid all bidding procedures.

Section 5. Bidding for positions shall take place once each year from November 1st to November 30th in every particular year unless a new position is created or a vacancy occurs during the year, at which time, bidding shall take place within the next thirty (30) days after the position is created or the vacancy occurs.

Section 6. A seniority principle shall be applied department wide within each rank. An Officer who does not have the rank commensurate with the rank or vacancy of the new position shall not be permitted to bid for the particular job with the said rank classification, notwithstanding his length of service on the Police Department.

Section 7. The Police Officer shall be permitted a testing period of thirty (30) days in which to qualify for the position which he seeks by bidding. Nothing herein shall prevent the City from reassigning an individual if the City believes that the individual is not qualified to perform the work for the particular position. Any such action by the City will always be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure.

Section 8. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the City shall have the right to assign a maximum of 10% of the total police force to special duty positions in strict accordance with the following conditions:

A. As used herein, the term "special duty" shall mean the performance of duties for a fixed, nonpermanent duration requiring the utilization of a particular skill or facility uniquely possessed by the selected Officer. A "special duty" shall never mean the performance of duties that in whole or in part had previously been performed by an Officer assigned in accordance with the seniority provisions of this Agreement.

B. Except as provided hereinafter, no special duty appointment shall be valid unless and until the FOP is first notified in writing of the exact nature of the duty, the factually specific reason or reasons why a particular officer was selected and the specific anticipated duration of the appointment. In the event that the duties to be performed by the special duty appointee are of a confidential nature that could not be disclosed, the Police Chief shall so certify in writing.

C. "Special duty" shall include officers assigned to the Drug Unit, the School Crossing Supervisor/DARE Officer/ the Warrant Officer, the Chief's Clerk and the Auto Theft Officer.

Section 9. If the City at a later date should create steady shift positions in any rank, but especially among Captains and Lieutenants, these new positions shall be subject to the bidding proposal by the Officer within the respective rank.

Section 10. The Chief of Police, and in the event the City shall employ a Commissioner of Police, or Superintendent of Police, or some other similar plan, the person who fills the position must come from the ranks of the Scranton City Police Department.

Section 11. In the event a Police Officer is suspended, the Officer shall remain a member of the Police Department for all intents and purposes and provisions of the law.

Section 12. Attached hereto, incorporated by reference herein as fully as though the same were stated herein, and made a part hereof as Exhibit "B" which contains Rules and Regulations in order to help the parties interpret the existing Seniority Agreement between the parties which is also incorporated by reference herein as fully as though the same were set forth at length. It shall contain Rules and Regulations to help the parties interpret the existing Seniority Agreement.

Section 13. All extra duty positions shall be assigned by seniority from among those members of the bargaining unit who have indicated in writing their willingness to accept such positions. Under no circumstances shall the City assign or permit a non-bargaining unit officer to perform such duties unless and until they have first been offered to all willing bargaining unit members.

ARTICLE XXI BIDDING PROCEDURE

Section 1. All members of the Scranton City Police Department will be permitted to bid not only for their positions, but also for their days off each year.

Section 2. Each Officer has 12 hours to bid after being notified of his/her turn, or said Officer shall lose his/her bid. Furthermore, any Police Officer about to go on vacation, at the commencement of the bidding procedure, shall notify his/her bid officer immediately and leave with his bid officer, the said Police Officer's first, second and third choices for vacation, job and days off bidding. If this procedure is not followed, the particular Police Officer will lose his/her bid for that particular year.

Section 3. Effective January 1, 1987, once the bid board has been placed, each Police Officer must bid his/her position and days off at the same time according to seniority, with no more than four (4) Police Officers off on individual days, not including Corporals and Sergeants. Sergeants shall bid first, followed by Corporals.

Section 4. Captains and Lieutenants - Bid days off - except Crime Prevention and Traffic Division Lieutenant who will have their days off as Saturday and Sunday.

Section 5. Highway Patrol Officers shall bid days off by seniority by shift. Highway Corporals will not bid days off and will not count toward shift complement.

Section 6. Officers may not bid down from a Civil Service Certified position.

Section 7. A temporary opening will be filled on shift first then opened to Department wide replacement. Permanent openings will be filled Department wide.

ARTICLE XXII HEALTH INSURANCE

Section 1. Subject to the provisions and conditions of this Article, the City shall provide all active members of the bargaining unit, their spouses and dependents with the complete Access Care program as well as the existing Vision and Dental Programs.

A. Effective with the mutual ratification of this Agreement, and subject to the provisions and conditions of the Article, the City shall provide all active members of the bargaining unit, their spouses and dependents with the complete Access Care (preferred) or its successor Access Care Program as well as existing vision and dental programs. Provided, that if Blue Cross continues to offer Access Care I, in its present form, the City shall provide it.

B. If the City should provide Access Care 2 (preferred) as described herein, then the City shall thereafter pay each recipient a sum equal to the difference in monthly premium between the Access Care 1 as presently capped and Access Care 2 (preferred) that is provided to the recipient. The payment shall be made in the first paycheck of each month for the prior calendar month. In the event that during the term of this agreement, the provider should no longer offer Access 1, then the difference shall be based upon the actual difference of the premium last charged before the complete abolition of Access Care 1 but not to exceed the cap.

C. In the event that any active bargaining unit member should determine to remain on the traditional Blue Cross/Blue Shield/Major Medical program as it existed prior to July 1, 1993, he/she shall be permitted to do so provided that he/she agrees in writing to have deducted, on a biweekly basis, the difference between the City's total cost for his/her traditional Blue Cross/Blue Shield/Major Medical health insurance and the City's then current cost to that employee of providing the complete Access Care program as well as the existing Vision and Dental Programs. Such Bargaining unit employee may also voluntarily waive in writing coverage under the existing Vision and Dental programs and utilize such savings as an offset against any payment due by reason of the election provided for herein. Such election shall remain in effect until the first day of the month next following the City's receipt of the written revocation of that election.

Section 2. The City's liability for the health insurance benefits described herein shall be

as follows:

A. Effective January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2012, the City shall be liable for the cost of health insurance (over and above the listed deductibles and co-payments) up to the annual amounts listed below:

	1/1/2008	1/1/2011	1/1/2012
Single coverage	\$4,430	\$5,316	\$6,380
Parent/Child	\$8,758	\$10,509	\$12,611
Parent/Children	\$9,443	\$11,331	\$13,598
Husband/Wife	\$11,331	\$13,336	\$16,003
Family	\$11,920	\$14,304	\$17,164

B. The applicable deductibles and/or co-payments shall be adjusted as follows:

1. The per-visit emergency room co-pay shall be increased from \$35 to \$75.

2. The per-visit doctor co-pay shall be increased from \$5 to \$10.

3. The co-payment for the prescription plan shall be increased to \$6 for generics and \$15 for brand name drugs.

C. Effective January 1, 2008, the City shall be responsible for 50% of any increases in the cost of health care for active bargaining unit employees beyond that provided above and the active bargaining unit employees shall be responsible for the balance of subsequent increases as determined by the healthcare provider.

D. Before any such charge shall be effective, the FOP shall be notified in writing immediately upon the City's receipt of any proposed increases, but not less than thirty (30) calendar days in advance of the effective date of such increases and shall simultaneously be provided with supporting documentation from the insurance carrier demonstrating the exact nature and effective date of such increases.

E. The active bargaining unit employee's share of the increase shall be divided equally among the paychecks for the year and only one single payment by the employee shall be deducted from each paycheck.

Section 3. Effective January 1, 2013, active bargaining unit members shall contribute, on a pretax basis, toward the cost of health care benefits 3% of the base pay of a 5th year Patrol Officer, deducted in equal shares from their paycheck. Effective January 1, 2017, the contribution shall be increased to 3.5% of the base pay of a 5th year Patrol Officer, deducted in equal shares from their paycheck.

Section 4. Health Care Committee

A. Within thirty (30) days of the ratification of this Agreement, the parties shall establish a Health Care Committee that shall remain in existence for the duration of this Agreement. The Committee shall be comprised of the Plan Coordinator, two representatives designated by the City and two bargaining unit members designated by the FOP. If permitted by its collective bargaining agreement with the City, the Committee shall also be comprised of a like number of representatives from the Fire Department bargaining unit. Attorneys for the parties shall be *ex officio* members of the Committee. All actions of the Committee must be by unanimous vote.

B. The Committee shall meet as often as necessary to perform its function. All parties agree that they shall consider the performance of the duties attached to the Committee as a contractual priority and shall only designate representatives to the Committee who will make all reasonable efforts to devote the necessary time and interest to the activities of the Committee to maximize its potential for the successful completion of its function and purpose. If scheduled to work, FOP designees will be permitted to attend meetings and perform reasonable Committee functions directly related to the Committee as authorized by the Committee on a uniform, nondiscriminatory basis, which authorization shall not be unreasonably withheld, on City time with no adjustment of schedule.

C. The purpose of the Committee shall be to examine and consider alternative health care plans, benefits, providers, delivery mechanisms and structures that will continue to provide high quality health care benefits to the bargaining unit members and their families in a manner that will diminish or eliminate copayments.

D. The City shall fund the retention of a national health benefit consulting firm that is acceptable to the FOP to assist the Committee in its efforts. Upon initial retention the consultant shall perform a study of the existing benefit structure and provide the Committee with initial factually specific suggestions and proposals to accomplish its purposes. Thereafter, and to the extent that further action is required, the consultant shall assist the City is preparing and distributing requests for proposals or other documents deemed necessary by the Committee to implement its decision. The consultant shall be instructed that its role is that of an expert neutral, that it owes a duty of loyalty to the entire Committee alone, and that any and all communications by it are to be shared simultaneously and equally with all members of the Committee.

E. The Committee shall not have the power to bind its appointing principals. There shall be no change in the health care provisions of this Agreement unless and until such change is ratified by the FOP's general membership.

F. In the event that the City should decline to act upon an FOP position that a particular change or modification in the alternative health care plans, benefits, providers, delivery mechanisms and structures that had been examined by the Committee should be adopted and such change will not increase the City total cash outlay beyond that provided herein, the FOP may seek arbitration of that dispute in accordance with the terms of this

collective bargaining agreement. If such should occur and the arbitrator is so persuaded by the FOP, the arbitrator is specifically empowered to modify this Agreement to adopt such FOP position.

G. The City shall fully cooperate with the Committee by making available to it any and all records or other documents that it reasonably requires for the performance of its duties and functions, fully and promptly cooperating with any and all decisions of the Committee regarding the investigation and potential placements of alternative health care devices, and cooperating with the National Health Care Consultant in the Committee's efforts to contain health care costs.

H. It is recognized and agreed that the formation and performance of the Committee provided for herein is on an experimental basis in a mutual effort to provide quality health care at the most cost effective premium. If the Committee is to perform its purpose and function, an open and frank exchange of ideas must be able to occur. Therefore, the parties mutually agree that neither shall make direct or indirect reference to the existence, function or any activities of the Committee or either party's action (or inaction) based thereon in any future proceedings between the parties.

Section 5. Premiums on the above insurance benefits shall be paid by the City during any extended illness of the employee and until such time as the employee is discharged by the City.

Section 6. Such benefits shall also be extended to the spouses and children previously described of Police Officers who died while on active duty after January 1, 1978, and should also extend to Police Officers and spouses who have retired subsequent to January 1, 1978.

Section 7. With the exception of a bargaining unit member first employed after January 30, 2015 who is married to another employee of the City, a bargaining unit member may elect to waive his/her health insurance coverage as provided hereinbefore under the following conditions:

A. The election that shall be in writing shall be effective as of the first day of the month next following the City's receipt of the notice; and

B. The election may be revoked at any time in writing with such revocation becoming effective as of the first day of the month next following the City's receipt of that notice; and

C. For each full month that the revocation is in effect the bargaining unit member shall monthly receive 40% of the City's savings attributable to that election, i.e., the gross cost of providing the benefits provided by this Agreement. The money shall be paid to the bargaining unit member in the paycheck next following the completion of the month for which the revocation was in effect and shall not be considered compensation for pension deduction purposes.

Section 8. Retiree Health Insurance

A. All bargaining unit members who were entitled to retiree benefits under the 1996-2002 agreement shall be eligible to receive retiree health insurance under this agreement and shall continue to be eligible to receive insurance for themselves and their spouses until they and their spouses reach Medicare age or for a period of ten years, whichever comes last.

B. The City shall continue to provide the health insurance benefits set forth in Article XXII to any member of the bargaining unit and his spouse and dependents who was first employed as a bargaining unit member on or before June 30, 1993 and who retired after December 31, 1993 for the life of the retired bargaining unit member and that of the spouse. Said benefits shall be subject to the parties' settlement agreement of January 24, 1991 that shall be incorporated in this Agreement as Exhibit "C" and the provisions of this Agreement regarding copayment.

C. The City shall continue to provide the health insurance benefits set forth in Article XXII to any member of the bargaining unit and his spouse and dependents who was first employed as a bargaining unit member on or after January 1, 1994 and who retires with at least twenty-five years of service under the terms provided in the parties 2012 Settlement Agreement until that retiree and his/her spouse attain Medicare eligibility..

D. As of January 1, 1994 to December 31, 2012, the City shall be responsible for 75% of any increases in the cost of health care for the retired bargaining unit employee who retired on or after January 1, 1994 beyond that provided above in subsection (A) and the retired bargaining unit employee who retired on or after January 1, 1994 shall be responsible for the balance of such increases.

E. Those bargaining unit members who retire after the ratification of this agreement shall on and after January 1, 2013 contribute for the duration of their receipt of health benefits from the City 50% of the amount contributed in accordance with the terms of this agreement by active employees, adjusted from time to time by contractually-provided periodic increases in base pay.

F. Upon their retirement from employment, the City shall provide bargaining unit members Robert Golden, Albert Leocini, Dennis Lyons, William McColligan, Nelson Ancherani, Joseph Castellano, Raymond Kelly and Richard Patchcoski, their spouses and dependents, with the health insurance benefits, free of charge, that were in effect at date of retirement for their lives and that of their spouses.

Section 9. The City will provide each Police Officer with a certificate which states the insurance coverage provided to him by the City at its expense.

ARTICLE XXIII LIFE INSURANCE

Section 1. Effective January 1, 1987, there shall be an increase in life insurance for active Police Officers of Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000) per Police Officer, raising the life insurance for active Police Officers to Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000). There shall be a corresponding increase of Twelve Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$12,500) for retired Police Officers. Effective January 1, 2008 the face value of the life insurance policy provided to bargaining unit members shall be increased to twice the yearly wage of the bargaining member and the yearly wage for officers retiring after that date.

Section 2. There shall be double indemnity for accidental death. This shall be handled as it always has in the past, with the City paying all premiums and the Police Officers designating their own beneficiaries.

Section 3. The City shall provide and deliver to each Police Officer copies of the insurance policy within a reasonable amount of time.

ARTICLE XXIV FALSE ARREST INSURANCE

Section 1. The City shall provide, at its own cost, false arrest insurance to cover all members of the Police Department so long as the incident in question involves general police work. This shall include criminal and civil matters, and the expenses of counsel fees and costs for the defense of the Police Officer.

ARTICLE XXV MISCELLANEOUS

Section 1. Lieutenants shall have their duty periods scheduled so that each will have, substantially, the same number of weekends off during the year.

Section 2. Upon the mutual ratification of this agreement, the parties shall enter into negotiations in a good faith effort to reach agreement on modifications to the promotion and testing process utilized by the City. No promotions shall be made pending completion of those negotiations. If no agreement is reached by December 31, 2012, the collective bargaining agreement shall be amended upon the mutual ratification of this agreement to provide the following:

A. All written civil service tests for promotion within the bargaining unit shall be administered by a mutually-agreeable independent testing agency.

B. All oral examinations for promotion within the bargaining unit shall be conducted by a panel of experts secured and directed by a mutually-selected independent agency.

C. All study material to be utilized in a promotional examination within the bargaining unit must be generally available for purchase and shall be identified in writing not less than

three calendar months prior to the examination being administered.

Section 3. In order to maintain a high level of performance for the Police Department, reserve patrolmen shall be treated as full-time Police Officers, and shall receive the same rate of pay and all fringe benefits as if they were regular Police Officers. All reserve patrolmen who are working as full-time Police Officers shall be classified, at a minimum, as first-year regular patrolmen as far as salaries and fringe benefits are concerned.

Section 4. All employees who do not become FOP members after the effective date of this Agreement shall, as a condition of employment, pay to the FOP each month a service charge as a contribution toward administration of this Agreement, an amount equal to the regular monthly dues and assessments of the FOP. Upon failure to pay the charge, the Employer shall discharge the employee when advised by the FOP.

Section 5. The City will provide each Police Officer with a copy of the agreement between the Scranton Police Department, Fraternal Order of Police, E.B. Jermyn Lodge No. 2 and the City of Scranton with all of its provisions.

Section 6. In the event that a member of this bargaining unit leaves, or has left, the bargaining unit to accept appointment as the City's Director of Public Safety, such bargaining unit member shall be entitled to continue contributions to the Pension Plan under the same terms and conditions as a bargaining unit member.

In the event that a member of this bargaining unit leaves, or has left, the bargaining unit to accept the appointment as the City's Chief of Police, such bargaining unit member shall be entitled to:

a. Continue contributions to the Pension Plan under the same terms and conditions as a bargaining unit member; and

b. If such person should for any reason elect to return to his/her former bargaining unit position, such return shall be in the rank within the bargaining unit that the person held prior to assuming the appointment to Chief of Police and with full contractual seniority accrued up to the date that such person left the bargaining unit to accept the appointment.

Section 7. A leave of absence without pay may be granted if the City finds good cause for the request. The City may not arbitrarily deny any such request. The employee's written request for a leave of absence must be addressed to the Superintendent of Police or his designated representative, which shall be acknowledged by the Superintendent of Police within five (5) working days from its receipt.

Section 8. The parties shall enter into a unified collective bargaining agreement of January 1, 2008 incorporating all prior arbitration awards, as well as such changes as are reached during the course of collective bargaining and/or subsequent Act 111 arbitration awards. This incorporation shall occur in not more than thirty (30) working days subsequent to the approval of the contract and/or rendering of the Award. After thus prepared, the document shall be signed by

.

the appropriate representatives of both parties and shall be promptly printed at City expense for distribution to each member of the bargaining unit with thirty (30) additional copies being provided to the FOP.

Section 9. The parties recognize and agree that personnel matters involving the considered, threatened, possible or actual discipline of a bargaining unit member are highly confidential and should not be disclosed to the public. Accordingly, in the event that the City, or anyone acting on its behalf, should disclose such matters to the public or the media, the person or persons thus making such disclosure shall be disciplined. This provision shall not serve to prohibit or prevent the City from truthfully and accurately providing the media with a brief factual description of the discipline actually imposed upon a bargaining unit member and the factual background underlying the alleged infraction.

Section 10. Within the six month period following the ratification of this Settlement Agreement by both parties, the parties shall make a good faith effort to examine their records in order to identify and isolate all prior written agreements between the parties (such as the Settlement Agreement of June 1, 2012). The parties thereafter shall exchange copies of such agreements. Upon such exchange, any other such written agreements, if any, that might subsequently be discovered shall be considered null and void. This section shall not be interpreted as voiding, or otherwise affecting, unwritten past practices of the parties.

Section 11. The bargaining unit members recognize and agree to abide by the provisions of File of Council No. 17 of 1980 regarding the issue of residency. The members of the bargaining unit acknowledge that the *bona fide* residence requirement for municipal employees as per File of Council No. 17 of 1980 means the sole legal residence or domicile of the employee, the residence which the individual considers his home and where his domiciliary intent is such that he intends to remain. Further the bargaining unit members will agree to comply with the residency verification procedures outlined by the City Controller's Memorandum dated December 26, 1997 and such other procedures regarding residency and verification as the City may require from time to time. The City shall not make any effort to enforce the terms of this provision until at least six (6) months after the date on which occurs the mutual ratification of the parties January 1, 1996 - December 31, 2002 collective bargaining agreement.

Section 12. The parties agree to immediately meet for the purpose of attempting to reach agreement regarding the reassignment of the bargaining unit's jurisdiction over the issuance of parking tickets in the Hill Section and other sections of the City.

Section 13. The position of Detective Sergeant shall be reinstated immediately upon mutual ratification of this agreement.

Section 14. All permanent positions must be filled within six (6) months of the vacancy occurring by a certified Civil Service Employee. A long term actor shall not be permitted for permanent vacancies.

ARTICLE XXVI PAST AGREEMENTS, ARBITRATION AWARDS AND PAST PRACTICES

Section 1. All past agreements between the parties, all prior arbitration awards between the parties including all of the provisions of the said agreements and awards, and all of the past practices of the City of Scranton which inure to the benefit of the Police Officers shall be continued, and are hereby incorporated by reference herein as fully as though the same were herein set forth at length, and are hereby made a part hereof, except as the same are specifically and expressly modified herein.

Section 2. All members of the bargaining unit who were laid off from their position of employment during 2011 shall be returned to their positions of employment, by order of seniority, within five (5) business days of existing bargaining unit positions being vacated subsequent to the mutual ratification of this agreement. Such employees shall not be laid off for the duration of this agreement.

Section 3. The City shall pay all backpay damages and interest arising from the application of the terms of the Act 111 Awards between the parties hereto for 2003-2007 and 2008-2014 to all current and former members of the bargaining unit, as calculated by the independent impartial auditor they have selected, including the adjustment of pensions as a result of the increase in base wages. Such damages shall include interest computed from the date initially payable to June 30, 2013 at 6%, compounded in accordance with the procedure established by the Pennsylvania Labor Relations Board and confirmed by the Commonwealth Court. In the event that any delay should occur beyond June 30, 2013, interest shall be computed to date of actual payment.

1. The City shall bear the fees and expenses of the auditor, whose completed schedule of damages shall be final and binding on all concerned and shall have the legal force and effect of an Act 111 arbitration award.

2. The amount as determined by the auditor shall be payable by the City on or before June 30, 2013.

3. The amount determined by the auditor shall be reduced to a stipulated judgment and entered as such in the Court of Common Pleas of Lackawanna County within a calendar week of receipt of the final report as hereinbefore described.

4. The union shall take no action to enforce the stipulated judgment until the first business day following June 30, 2013, and only if the City should fail to make the entire payment described above in this paragraph by June 30, 2013.

ARTICLE XXVII PROHIBITION AGAINST DISCRIMINATION

Section 1. The City and the FOP agree that they shall not discriminate against any member of the bargaining unit with regard to age, sex, marital status, race, creed, color, national origin, or membership in the FOP.

ARTICLE XXVIII LIGHT DUTY

Section 1. This Policy shall apply to all injuries or illnesses incurred by members of the bargaining unit, regardless of whether those injuries or illnesses are work related.

Section 2. An employee who is temporarily unable to perform, without restriction or limitation, all of the duties and responsibilities of his position may be required to perform "light duty" employment responsibilities in strict accordance with the terms of this Policy.

Section 3. As used in this Policy, the term "light duty" shall mean the temporary full time or part time employment duties and responsibilities of a lesser degree and/or nature than those historically performed by the temporarily disabled employee, but are only of the nature and scope traditionally performed by fully capable members of the bargaining unit. Such duties shall be performed without requiring the wearing of a uniform, shall be non-confrontational in nature, shall be on the same shift as the officer was working at the time of the injury and shall be consistent with the rank of the injured bargaining unit member. Under no circumstances shall "light duty" include, in whole or in part, employment duties other than those historically performed by the bargaining unit, that are demeaning to the disabled employee, that are unnecessary to the operation of the Department or that are intended solely for the purpose of providing "make work" tasks that had not been performed by fully capable bargaining unit members in the past.

Section 4. The determination of whether, and the extent to which (if at all), a disabled employee may perform light duty work shall in the first instance be made in writing by the employee's treating physician. If a difference of opinion on that issue exists between the employee's treating physician and a physician designated by the City, the employee shall submit to an examination by a third physician, the fee of which will be paid by the City, agreed upon by the parties who will render an opinion as to whether, and the extent to which (if at all), a disabled employee may perform light duty work within the meaning of this Policy. If the parties cannot reach agreement on the identity of the third physician, the treating physician and that designated by the City shall be requested to designate a third physician. The decision of the third physician shall be final and binding on all concerned.

Section 5. In the event that there should exist more temporarily disabled bargaining unit members than light duty positions available, the light duty position shall first be offered by seniority to the qualified (as determined by the treating physician) employees. If light duty positions should remain after being thus offered, they may then be assigned to qualified employees by inverse seniority.

Section 6. Within sixty (60) days of the effective date of the 1996-2002 Contract, the City shall identify and describe in writing to the FOP all light duty positions within the Department, including all duties and responsibilities thereof, the hours of work and any other salient characteristics thereof. Any future additions to such positions shall be established only by mutual agreement with the FOP. Thereafter, such descriptions shall be the sole reference utilized by a physician in reaching a determination as to the circumstances, if any, that an employee is eligible for assignment to light duty under this Policy.

Section 7. An employee who is performing light duty assignments under this Policy shall, upon prior notice to the Department, be permitted, without loss of pay or benefits, reasonable time during the work day to attend a medical or rehabilitation appointment. Employees who are performing light duty as a result of a non-work related injury or illness shall make every reasonable effort to schedule such appointments outside of the normal working day.

Section 8. The employee shall be required to provide the City with periodic reports from the attending physician describing the extent and anticipated duration of his recuperation and/or rehabilitation.

Section 9. An employee shall never be required or permitted to perform light duty where either the nature of the duties or the physical limitations of the disabled employee would in any manner or degree expose either that employee or any other member of the bargaining unit to danger, or threat of same, of any nature, or where such duties are performed, or the performance of same, by the disabled employee would violate the contractual rights of any other member of the bargaining unit.

Section 10. Nothing in this Policy shall serve to diminish or in any manner waive the affected employees' rights and benefits under any applicable law.

ARTICLE XXIX HEART AND LUNG BENEFITS

Section 1. In the event that any member of the bargaining unit should become temporarily incapacitated as a result of a work related injury or illness, such individual shall continue to receive his full salary and all benefits provided by this Agreement for the duration of that incapacitation.

Section 2. In the event of an occurrence such as is described in Section 1 above, the City shall pay all reasonable medical and other expenses arising from or relating to such injury

Section 3. The Heart and Lung Panel procedure that had previously been agreed upon by the parties shall be implemented immediately upon the completion of the Retirement Incentive Program provided for herein.

ARTICLE XXX PENSION

Section 1. Effective immediately a bargaining unit member, and, if appropriate after the death of a active or retired bargaining unit member, the surviving spouse of a deceased such member, shall be afforded the opportunity to elect a pension benefit payable to that surviving spouse for his or her lifetime and then for the lifetime of the children of the deceased active or retired police officer in equal parts until each reaches age 18, or age 21 if a full-time student. The pension benefit thus payable if the event of such election shall be the actuarial equivalent of the pension benefits otherwise payable to the spouse. The pension shall not be readjusted and reallocated upon each child reaching age 18, or age 21 if a full-time student.

Section 2. Effective immediately, in the event that the spouse of an active or retired bargaining unit member dies prior to the active or retired bargaining unit member or in the event of the simultaneous death of both the active or retired officer and his/her spouse, the pension benefit that would have otherwise been payable to that spouse shall, upon the death of the active or retired bargaining unit member, shall be paid in equal parts to the surviving children of the active or retired bargaining unit member until each child reaches the age of 18, or age 21 if a full-time student. The pension shall not be readjusted and reallocated upon each child reaching age 18, or age 21 if a full-time student.

Section 3. Effective immediately a pension benefit shall be payable to the surviving spouse of an active or retired bargaining unit member, regardless of the period of time that they were married at the time that the deceased current or former bargaining unit member died.

Section 4. Pension contributions of bargaining unit members shall be as follows:

January 30, 2015	4%
1/1/16	5%
1/1/17	6%
1/1/18	6 %
1/1/19	6%
1/1/20	6 %
1/1/21	6%

ARTICLE XXXI DRUG TESTING

Section 1. The parties agree that the Drug Testing Program attached hereto as Exhibit "D" may be implemented by the City for the duration of this agreement.

ARTICLE XXXII DURATION

This Agreement shall first be effective January 1, 2008 and shall remain in Section 1. full force and effect until December 31, 2021.

Approved as to Form:

CITY OF SCRANTON

Jason Shrive City Solicitor BY:_____ William L. Courtright Mayor

Date:_____

Date:_____

ATTEST TO MAYOR'S SIGNATURE City Clerk

CITY CONTROLLER

FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE E.B. JERMYN LODGE NO. 2

BY:_____ Paul Helring President

Date:_____

AMENDED 2015 MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT By and Between DULY-AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES OF THE STRATEGIC IMPLEMENTATION TEAM OF THE CITY OF SCRANTON And E.B. JERMYN LODGE NO. 2, FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE Regarding THE STRUCTURE AND COMPOSITION OF THE CITY OF SCRANTON POLICE DEPARTMENT

It is hereby agreed by and between the duly-authorized representatives of the Strategic Implementation Team of the CITY OF SCRANTON ("City") and E.B. JERMYN LODGE NO. 2 OF THE FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE ("FOP") as follows:

I. PURPOSE OF THIS MEMORANDUM

- a. Article I, Section 2 of the 1993-1996 Collective Bargaining Agreement provides for the creation of a Strategic Implementation Committee ("SIT") comprised of dulyauthorized representatives of the City, PEL and the FOP. The purpose and function of that Committee is to continue the parties' joint efforts to professionalize the Police Department by restructuring the City of Scranton Police Department in a manner that balances the interests of the City's fiscal needs, the safety of the City's citizenry, the effective operation of the Department and the interests, rights and safety of the police officers and FOP.
- b. The SIT having reached certain preliminary agreements regarding the structure and composition of the City of Scranton Police Department, the purpose of this Memorandum is to set forth those preliminary agreements for adoption, ratification and effectuation by the appropriate representatives of the City and FOP as more fully described herein.

II. MAJOR FUNCTIONS OF THE CITY OF SCRANTON POLICE DEPARTMENT

In restructuring the City of Scranton Police Department, the parties recognize and agree that the major functions and mission of the City of Scranton Police Department shall continue to be:

A. The preservation of the peace and public order; and

111915

- B. The protection of life, liberty and property; and
- C. The prevention and repression of crime; and
- D. The detection of violations of the law and resultant apprehension and prosecution of violators

III. THE CHIEF OF POLICE OF THE DEPARTMENT

The chief executive officer of the City of Scranton Police Department shall be the Chief of Police (Superintendent or Colonel).

- A. The Chief (Superintendent) of Police (Colonel)
 - 1. Appointed by the Mayor on the basis of qualifications in accordance with the City of Scranton Home Rule Charter, the City of Scranton Civil Service Commission Rules and Regulations and the collective bargaining agreement between the City and E.B. Jermyn Lodge No. 2 of the Fraternal Order of Police ("FOP").
 - 2. Subject to the directives of the Mayor, the Chief of Police (Superintendent of Police) shall be responsible for the control, management and direction of the City of Scranton Police Department and all police officers and designated civilians employed therein or otherwise under its control.
 - 3. The Chief of Police shall be responsible for the administration, supervision and discipline of all personnel, both sworn and civilian, the City of Scranton Police Department.

IV. DIVISIONS OF THE POLICE DEPARTMENT

A. There shall be three "Divisions" of sworn Police Officers within the City of Scranton Police Department under the direct command of Department Captain. Those Divisions shall be:

- 1. the Patrol Division
- 2. the Detective Division
- 3. the Administrative Division that shall include the Training and Special Services

B. With the exception of civilians working directly for the Chief, civilians acting in support of the above three Divisions shall work under the supervision of the Administrative Lieutenant of the Information Management and Administrative Support Division.

V. **PATROL DIVISION**

The personnel structure of the Patrol Division of the City of Scranton Police Department shall be as follows:

A. Department Captain

1. A single Captain will assume complete supervisory responsibility for all aspects of the entire Patrol, Detective and Administrative Divisions.

2. The position of Detective Captain and Patrol Captain shall be eliminated through attrition and replaced by the Department Captain, who shall be compensated at the rate of the Detective Captain.

- B. Three (3) Shift Lieutenants
 - 1. The patrol functions on each shift will become the complete responsibility of a single Lieutenant on each shift.
- C. Twelve (12) Sergeants
 - 1. Four (4) Sergeants shall be assigned to each regular shift (A, B and C) and shall primarily serve as Road Supervisors of the Patrol Officers who are also assigned to that shift.
 - 2. Sergeants will not routinely take primary calls, but rather shall assist in the disposition and direction of calls. Sergeants may be dispatched as a back-up Officers on calls requiring two officers
 - 3. Sergeants shall work fixed shifts.
 - 4. In cooperation with the Sergeant of Training and Special Services, the Sergeants shall be responsible for the field training of new officers in accordance with Departmental policy.

D. Patrol Officers

1. The total number of officers within the Patrol Division would also include four (4) officers assigned as "Special Duty" to the "Drug Unit" as well as those officers who are injured and not available for the performance of traditional patrol functions.

2. Patrol Officers will work fixed shifts.

E. Motorcycle Officers

1. If the City should determine to reinstitute the utilization of motorcycles, two (2) Patrol officers per shift shall be assigned to the motorcycles on the A and B Shifts.

F. Highway Unit

- 1. Shall be included within the structure of the Patrol Division.
- 2. Shall be under the general supervision of the Patrol Lieutenant who is responsible for the shift on which the members of the Highway Unit are assigned.
- 3. The Unit shall be responsible for accidents within the City, hit and runs, stolen autos and vehicle related crime and incidents
- 4. Supervision of the Highway Unit
 - a.. Supervised by one Traffic Corporal who shall work the day shift

b. The Traffic Corporal shall have administrative duties, work 0800-1600 (does not count towards manning of A-Shift) with weekends off, oversee all highway related investigations/grants/ details. Correct all accident reports and conduct all follow up investigations with assistance of Highway Patrol Officers. Traffic Corporal will report to the A-Shift Lieutenant.

5. Two SIT Clerks shall be reassigned to city wide parking enforcement. The Clerks will fall under and report to Traffic Corporal. These positions will perform proactive parking enforcement only and cannot be dispatched to

police calls for service regarding parking complaints. In the event an Officer is furloughed during this agreement, these positions will be eliminated.

6. Six (6) Patrol Officers shall be assigned within the Traffic Unit

a. Officers within the Unit shall work the A, B and C Shifts as otherwise described herein

b. When assigned as special duty, the Auto Theft Investigator shall also be included in the structure of the Highway Unit.

7. Civilians who are to be employed by the City will handle the Traffic Division's "public contact" functions that previously have been performed by the Traffic Officer. That police officer, in turn, will then be released to perform traditional police functions.

8. Assignment to Highway

a. All officers bidding into Highway shall be required to participate in all training sessions and other educational functions to develop their proficiency in the matters within their jurisdiction.

b. All officers bidding into the Highway Unit shall have one year after being first assigned to that Unit in which to attain a certificate of successful completion from an approved Crash Investigation - Advanced Level I course. A grace period may be provided if course scheduling difficulties beyond the control of the officer preclude literal compliance with the one year requirement.

c. Once an officer successfully completes the aforesaid certification requirements, that officer may not be bumped from his/her position within the Unit except by another more senior officer who also possesses a currently effective certificate.

d. Bidding for vacancies within the Unit shall be by seniority and shall not take into consideration prior or current certifications.

9. K-9 Officers

a. Shall be equally assigned to the three shifts (A, B and C) with the fourth position being assigned to B Shift. The shift assignments of any other positions created in the unit shall require mutual agreement.

b. K-9 Officers will receive a \$100 reimbursement towards expenses (replacement for 2 hrs. overtime). K-9 Officers will only be required to work 7 hours on regularly scheduled days of work, but paid a full 8 hours. The additional paid time will be reimbursement for at home care of the K-9, on Officers on/off duty days. The 1 hour off will be selected by shift commander at the commencement of each bid, but shall be at the beginning or end of the shift.

3. If a K-9 is required due to call volume to stay over the 7 hours, said Officer will be compensated overtime pay.

4. K-9 Officer may be reimbursed up to 10 kennel days for dog care.

5. The K-9 Officers will be required to bid position, days off and vacation by department seniority within Officer's rank. The Officer with the most time working as a K-9 Handler will be designated as OIC of the K-9 Unit. The OIC will act as a liaison between K-9 Unit and Special Services Sgt. (Similar to SOG).

10. School Resource Officers.

a. If requested by school administration with approval of the Department Captain to attend an out of school event, Officers will not be required to use personal time in order to attend.

b. SRO'S will have Sat/Sun off and be assigned to A Shift when not required to attend school.

VI. **DETECTIVE DIVISION**

A. The Department Captain

- 1. The Detective Division of the City of Scranton Police Department shall be under the direct control and supervision of the Department Captain.
- 2. The Detective Lieutenant shall be responsible for the daily administration and operation of Detective Division
- B. One (1) Lieutenant of Detectives
- C. Three (3) Sergeants of Detectives
 - 1. One of the Detective Sergeants will be assigned to night shift with three (3)

111915

Detectives

- D. One (1) Arson Investigator (Detective)
 - 1. Will report to the Detective Lieutenant and be physically moved and integrated into the Detective Division.
 - 2. Will be assigned non-arson related detective duties on a "conditions permitting" basis as determined by Division Supervision.

a. This is a "transition position". When the current incumbent vacates the position for any reason, its duties will be assumed by the Detective Bureau as a whole and the position will be abolished. After this transition is thus completed, the position of Arson Investigator will become the twelfth Detective position

- E. Twelve (12) Detectives
 - 1. Three of the Detectives will be assigned to the night shift
- F. Juvenile Officers
 - 1. Will report to the Detective Lieutenant
 - 2. Unit comprised of:
 - a. 1 Juvenile Officer Supervisor
 - b. 4 Juvenile Officers
- G. Elimination of Juvenile Officers

a. Through attrition, the City shall eliminate the position of Juvenile Officers. Once the complement is down to two positions, there shall be the one (1) Detective (making 13) being exclusively being assigned to juvenile cases. Once the final two Juvenile Officers positions are vacated, the fourteenth Detective will be filled. This position must stand for the purpose of Rank Differential upon the elimination of all Officers.

b. If the SRO'S are no longer used in the Scranton School District, an additional position will be added making a (15) detective with three detectives exclusively taking juvenile cases.

c. A 4th BCI Position shall be created, who will be assigned to work day shift Sat-Wed.

d. The Detective/Sgt. shall be assigned to actively work, be an affiant on all homicides/major cases assisted by other Detectives as the D/Lt. deems appropriate.

e. As a result of the next two promotions to the rank of Detective, two sets of days off will be bid. The days off will be two consecutive days off, Mon-Fri, for two positions within the Detective Division working the day shift.

f. SID Supervisor/BCI Positions shall be in accordance with the agreement of the parties

VII. ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT DIVISION

- A. Administrative Lieutenant (1)
 - 1. will be responsible for administrative support for all Divisions within the Department
 - 2. will report directly to the Department Captain
 - 3. will have no "line" duties other than the supervision of the Training Unit and Technical Service Sergeant
 - 4. Will perform duties of Crime Prevention Officer.
 - 5. With the exception of the clerical employed directly in the office of the Chief of Police, will serve as Supervisor for all clerical and civilians employed to serve the Department.
- B. Clerical Employees within Division
 - 1. Existing clerical support staff to be supplemented by the employment of additional clericals as described below.
 - 2. Criminal Information Specialist (formerly Evidence Room Custodian)

a. The FOP agrees that this bargaining unit work shall be forfeited to civilian employees in exchange for assigning police officer currently performing those duties to perform traditional primary police patrol functions.

- b. Job description attached
- c. Appointment subject to modification of budget

d. Civil Service Regulations to be amended to provide for Civil Service appointment and initial selection

e. Initial appointment subject to approval of the Strategic Implementation Committee

- 3. Grant Writer
 - a. job description attached

b. Civil Service Regulations to be amended to provide for Civil Service appointment and initial selection

c. appointment subject to modification of budget

VIII. TRAINING AND SPECIAL SERVICES DIVISION

- A. One (1) Training and Special Services Sergeant
 - 1. will report directly to the Administrative Lieutenant
 - 2. duties will be expanded to direct and coordinate technical services for the Department, including assumption of the duties and responsibilities of Bomb Disposal and Armorer

a. Provision of collective bargaining agreement requiring Armorer to be a Patrol Officer waived by FOP.

- B. One (1) Sergeant of Training
 - 1. Certified position to be selected by competitive written examination administered by Civil Service Commission
 - a. Applicant must requirements as agreed by the parties
 - b. Civil Service Commission Rules to be appropriately amended

2. Shall be responsible for the development and administration of the training program within the Department.

IX. PATROL WORK SHIFT

- A. The Patrol Division will work fixed shifts.
- B. The basic structure of the fixed shifts will be:
 - 1. 7A 3P ("A" Shift)
 - 2. 3P 11P ("B" Shift)
 - 3. 11P 7A ("C" Shift)
 - 4. 8P 4A ("D" Shift) (the "Power Shift")

	6A - 2P	2P-10P		10P-6A
Lieutenant	1	1		1
Sergeant	4	4		4
	7A-3P	3P-11P	8P-4A	11P-7A
Corporal	2	2		2
TOTAL	33	32	7	32

5. Distribution of sworn personnel on the fixed shift structure will be as follows:

Effective January 5, 2015 A-Shift shall work with 11 Officers Mon-Fri and 10 Officers Sat-Sun.; B-Shift shall work with 12 Officers Mon-Fri, 11 Officers on Sat and 10 Officers on Sun.; C-Shift shall work with 10 Officers Sun-Wed and 11 Officers Thur.-Sat.

All three shifts shall work with two supervisors from Monday through Sunday. Desk Officer does not count towards the daily shift count. The foregoing distribution shall include two (2 Patrol officers on each of the three shifts in the Highway Unit to provide extra assistance to the Patrol Division in the event of an emergency.

- C. Patrol Corporals
 - 1. Two such Corporals shall be assigned to A, B and C shifts.
 - 2. Corporals shall perform the duties of a Patrol Officer. In addition thereto,

the Corporals shall fill in for the missing shift supervisor on the shift to which the Corporal is assigned.

- 3. Corporals shall bid for days off after the Sergeant, and will not be permitted to bid in a manner so as to result in more than one person being off on the same shift per set of days.
- 4. Effective January 5, 2015 the rank of Patrol Corporal shall be eliminated by attrition.
- D. There shall be one (1) Lieutenant and four (4) Sergeants on the A, B, and C Shifts
 - 1. The overlap of the D shift ("Power Shift") would provide the supervision for that shift.
- E. The FOP's agreement to work the fixed shift structure is contingent upon the following agreement of the City:
 - 1. The Fixed shift structure will commence on January 1, 1995.
 - 2. The Fixed shift structure is being utilized on an experimental basis for a period of one year. If prior to October 31, 1995 either party should so notify the other in writing of its desire to terminate the experiment, the shift structure in effect in 1994 shall automatically be reinstated as of January 1, 1996.
 - 3. The FOP's agreement to modify its shift structure is in consideration of the City's agreement to execute and comply with this Agreement.
- F. In order to accomplish the distribution of personnel as set forth hereinbefore, the Patrol Shifts shall be bid in accordance with the following principles:
 - 1. Shifts will be bid by seniority
 - 2. In the bidding process the parties shall first determine that there are sufficient available officers to first fill the required complement. If there is not a sufficient available number, the required shifts shall be filled first.
 - 3. D Shift shall be staffed with a minimum of 7 officers and a maximum of 10.
 - 4. To the extent that the A, B or C shifts thereafter during the year fall short, officers from the D shift shall be transferred to maintain the minimum staffing.

- 5. In drawing officers from the D shift to maintain the minimum staffing levels, the City shall first offer the opportunity by seniority to the D shift officers to fill the vacancies. If none, or not a sufficient number accept, then the vacancies shall be filed by requiring the least senior to transfer.
- 6. Once vacations are selected, the selected vacation shall be honored by the City regardless of whether the officer remained on his originally-selected shift.
- 7. If an officer returns to A, B or C shift from illness, injury or otherwise so as to increase the number to or beyond the minimum, the officers who had been displaced from D shift, whether by choice or involuntarily, shall be offered by seniority the opportunity to return to D shift. If none choose to return, the least senior officer who had been displaced from D shift shall be required to return.

X. ADDITIONAL POSITION RESPONSIBILITY MODIFICATIONS / REASSIGNMENTS

- A. Service of Warrants
 - 1. The remaining one (1) Warrant Officer will continue to perform those duties as a Special Duty assignment
- A. Traffic Officer
 - 1. Daily public contact will be filled by civilians to be employed by City.
 - 2. Upon execution of this Agreement, City will terminate utilization of police officer for completing a full accident report for "non-reportable" accidents. A short form procedure will be thereafter utilized.
- a. Forms will be available at office or be mailed to citizens
 - B. Armorer/Bomb Squad duties previously performed by Patrol Officers are to be combined into Division of Training and Special Services.
 - C. The position of "School Crossing Guard Supervisor/DARE Officer" will be eliminated and assigned to clerical employees
 - A. The additional police officers made available for patrol by virtue of the

12

111915

implementation of this Agreement shall be utilized solely to perform traditional police patrol functions by vehicle and shall not be utilized, without the explicit agreement of the FOP, to perform "walking beat" or any other police function that is not in effect as of the date that this Agreement is ratified.

XII. CIVILIANIZATION OF POLICE DEPARTMENT FUNCTIONS

- A. FOP agrees that designated bargaining unit work historically performed by Police officers may be performed by civilian employees to be employed by the City.
- B. With the exception of the civilians working directly for the Chief of Police, all Civilians will be under direct command of Administrative Support Lieutenant
- C. With the exception of the civilians working directly for the Chief of Police, civilian clericals will work in "pool" concept without specific task dedication.
- D. To the extent necessary, additional civilians will be equipped with office equipment and other necessary supplied from fund, in accordance with the Recovery Plan developed by the PEL and will be phased into operation on a regular periodic basis over the course of the 1995, 1996 and 1997 fiscal years.
- E. Civilians will work two shifts structured to meet the needs of the officers and detectives that they will serve.
- F. Distribution of additional civilian employees within the Police Department as compared to existing complement:

	CURRENT	PROPOSE	ADD
Criminal Information Spec.	0	1	1
Clerk/Typist Detectives – da	ys 1	1	0
Clerk/Typist Det - Evenings	0	1	1
Records/Administration	4	6	2
Training	0	1	1
Administrative Sec'y Detective Division (Days)	0	1	1
Captain	0	1	1

TOTAL	5	17	12
Grant Writer	0	1	1
Parking Civilians	0	2	2
Desk (2 for 2 shifts)	0	2	2

XIII. RULES AND REGULATIONS/POLICY MANUAL

- A. It is recognized and agreed that the SIT shall continue its current development of the revised Rules and Regulations of the City of Scranton Police Department and that every reasonable effort shall be made to accomplish this goal within the immediate future.
- B. Upon adoption of such Rules and Regulations by the City, members of the Department shall be provided with adequate training with regard to the content of those Rules before they become final and binding upon such Officers.

XIV. POLICE DEPARTMENT JOB DESCRIPTIONS

The parties agree that as soon as practicable subsequent to the execution of this Agreement, a Request for Proposal shall be issued for the purpose of providing an expert to assist in the preparation of modern job descriptions for each bargaining unit position with the Department.

CITY OF SCRANTON by:

Date

E.B. JERMYN LODGE NO. 2 FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE by:

Date

CRIMINAL INFORMATION SPECIALIST (EVIDENCE AND PROPERTY ROOM CUSTODIAN)

INITIAL ANNUAL COMPENSATION - \$24,000

GENERAL DEFINITION

This is administrative work that involves the receipt, processing, cataloging, safeguarding and disposition of evidence and lost or abandoned property acquired by the Scranton Police Department. The evidence and property custodian reports directly to the Administrative Lieutenant and ultimately to the Chief of Police in accordance with Police Department chain of command.

TYPICAL EXAMPLES OF WORK:

Receives and inspects evidence;

Ensures that a chain of custody of evidence is in existence, and properly documents the receipt and all other transactions involving items of evidence;

Ensures that items with the potential for harm (firearms, chemicals, explosives, and the like) are appropriately processed and stored in a manner to ensure maximum safety for all concerned;

Places items of evidence in an authorized secure area;

Ensures that special accommodations are taken for the preservation of evidence (such as refrigeration for certain perishable items);

Creates and maintains a logical, efficient and secure storage system for items of evidence and of property;

Use journals, logs, reference materials, index cards, files and computer programs to create and maintain a 100 percent accurate inventory of evidence. Such inventory indicates the location of evidence if secured, or documents via signed receipts if the evidence has been released to properly authorized personnel;

Ensure that evidence is properly packaged, labeled, and that there is a documented chain of custody whenever the evidence is released for any reason;

Disposes of items of evidence upon receipt of valid orders authorizing same (court or prosecutor's release, etc.);

Oversees the receipt, processing, safeguarding and disposition of lost or abandoned property that is not of an evidential nature;

Ensures that property is not intermingled with evidence;

Testifies in legal proceedings;

At the direction of the Administrative Lieutenant, operates a terminal of the Commonwealth Law Enforcement Assistance Network (CLEAN) to make entries, conduct inquiries, or other appropriate actions;

Performs typing, filing, and other general clerical work as directed by the Administrative Lieutenant;

Reviews evidence at least annually to ascertain if retention is appropriate; destroys illegal drugs, illegal or abandoned firearms that no longer should be retained. Ensures that witnesses to the destruction include at least one disinterested person and one police officer of the rank of lieutenant or higher, and the destruction is certified by the custodian, the disinterested person and the senior officer; and

On an annual basis, arrange for property of value which has been unclaimed to be disposed of as provided for in Scranton Police Department policies and the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

KNOWLEDGE, SKILLS AND ABILITIES

Able to read the comprehend legal principles regarding the use and protection of evidence, policies, technical manuals, departmental forms and reports;

Able to communicate effectively in writing sufficient to maintain journals, logs, index cards, and to create correspondence or reports of activities for which the individual is responsible;

Verbal expression fluent, clear and distinct, and grammatically correct; able to communicate effectively when called as a witness in legal proceedings;

Ability to maintain effective working relationships with other employees, representatives of other organizations and the general public;

Sound reasoning and logical thinking capability;

Planning skills to organize, schedule and complete work assignments;

Able to type 30 words per minute within six months of hire;

Existing ability and skill to effectively use computer hardware and use modern word processing, data base and spreadsheet programs as well as more specialized computer programs appropriate to assigned duties;

Excellent attention span, able to advise officers and members of the public concerning disposition of evidence or property, even under conditions of considerable stress;

Recognize numbers, letters, words, symbols needed in the conduct of duties;

Level of manual dexterity sufficient to inspect, package, label and otherwise safely and correctly process evidence, to include a knowledge of firearms or other dangerous devices and an ability to unload or render them safe for storage;

Able to move, lift or lower objects weighing up to 40 pounds without damage to the objects or undue risk of personal injury to the incumbent;

Correctable eyesight sufficient to drive an automobile, perform clerical duties, readily distinguish articles of evidence, and distinguish colors and color variations accurately;

Must be able to pass and/all background investigations;

Must submit to and pass an entrance drug testing procedure, and acceptance of position constitutes agreement to be subject to random drug testing;

Must be bondable;

Must have a valid Pennsylvania drivers license, or acquire one within three (3) months of hire;

Conducts other duties as required.

DESIRABLE EDUCATION AND EXPERIENCE

High school education or equivalent; and

Prior law enforcement experience desirable.

SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS

1. Initial selection of employee filling this position must be approved by the Strategic Implementation Committee of the City of Scranton Police Department.

2. The position shall <u>not</u> be bumpable in the event of reduction in force.

3. In the absence of the selected employee, his/her duties shall be filled by a sworn member of the police department.

GRANT MANAGER/LEGISLATIVE LIAISON SCRANTON POLICE DEPARTMENT

Salary: \$29,000 Civil Service Appointment Regular City Benefit Package

REQUIREMENTS:

A four year degree in Government, Business Administration, Public Administration, or related field plus 4 years demonstrated experience in grant searching, writing and administration. Basic fund development skills required. Proven experience with legislative affairs, familiarity with legislative process. Must possess excellent communication skills and make public presentations. A thorough knowledge of government affairs and police department structure, policies and mandates.

Requisite skills and knowledge:

Candidate should possess a background in financial administration, accounting, automatic data processing and research skills. A knowledge of grant policies applicable to the City of Scranton, knowledge and exposure to the federal and state government's legislative process and administrative and decision making abilities.

JOB DESCRIPTION:

The Position shall be in the Police Department and shall at all times work under the immediate direction and control of the Lieutenant of Information Services. For the first six months of the initial tenure of the position, the Grant Manger shall devote full time to exclusively matters relating to the Police Department. After that time, the Grant Manager shall devote at least 75% of working hours to exclusively matters relating to the Police Department.

Develops, manages and administers funding sources to the City of Scranton, Department of Police including:

- searching funding opportunities
- developing all relative grant applications and materials
- initiating and administering new programs and special initiatives as required

- preparing applications for eligibility and coordinating staff and professional review panels as required
- assisting in preparation and tracking of required legislation and contracts
- planning, directing and monitoring grantee compliance
- preparing all invoicing and reports as required
- developing, searching and promoting opportunities for funding sources
- promoting the department through workshops, conferences, public meetings, special initiatives and publications
- establishes and participates in regular meeting with federal, state and local officials who may have an interest in the department
- acts as department contract in developing and implementing joint funding initiatives with other agencies
- conducts other duties as required
- reports through the Police Department Chain of Command.

PERFORMANCE STANDARDS

GRANT MANAGER/LEGISLATIVE LIAISON SCRANTON POLICE DEPARTMENT

PERFORMANCE FACTOR:

Job Knowledge/Planning

PERFORMANCE STANDARD:

- a. Understands and regularly adheres to department policies and procedures.
- b. General knowledge of police practices and specific knowledge of state and federal regulations and laws as they relate to work requirements.
- c. Accomplished in financial, analytical and computer skills necessary to accomplish work tasks.
- d. Schedules work tasks appropriately in order to meet federal, state and local reporting/filing/processing deadlines.

PERFORMANCE FACTOR:

Quantity

PERFORMANCE STANDARD:

- a. Manages any and all grant programs as they relate to the police department including: developing guidelines and procedures, initiating and administering new initiatives, preparing applications, planning, directing and managing grant programs and preparing and submitting all invoicing and reports as required.
- b. Manages, seeks and approves in many cases the expenditure of subgrant matching funds.
- c. Manages the preparation, tracking and monitoring of legislative and contract documents.
- d. Promotes the department through workshops, conferences, publications, lectures, and public presentations, etc.

PERFORMANCE FACTOR:

Quantity

PERFORMANCE STANDARD:

- a. Submits federal, state and local applications and reports prior to required deadlines.
- b. Maintains all financial records accurately and in easily retrievable fashion.
- c. Assures that contracts and legislative documents are accurate and makes changes as necessary.
- d. Performs work with independence and little review.

PERFORMANCE FACTOR:

PERFORMANCE STANDARD:

- a. Time is used efficiently and work is completed in a timely manner consistent with the legal mandates of the department.
- b. Uses good judgment and makes appropriate decisions in setting priorities and managing the grant programs.
- c. Assumes responsibility for all job related work tasks.

PERFORMANCE FACTOR:

Attendance

Dependability

PERFORMANCE STANDARD:

a. Adheres to all department policies and procedures.

PERFORMANCE FACTOR:

Relationship with People

PERFORMANCE STANDARD:

- a. Communication clearly, courteously and effectively (verbally and in writing) with department staff and other city employees and with federal and other state and local agency representatives.
- b. Assists the public in a courteous, tactful and helpful manner.
- c. Provides a leadership and professional model for other employees and helps to create a harmonious work environment.

PERFORMANCE FACTOR:

Affirmative Action

PERFORMANCE STANDARD:

- a. Working relationships does not reveal discriminatory behavior regardless of race, creed, sex or handicap.
- b. Carries out federal, state and local regulations regarding nondiscrimination of equal opportunity as related to management of any and all grant programs.

EXHIBIT "B"

RULES AND REGULATIONS TO HELP INTERPRET SENIORITY AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF SCRANTON AND FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE, E.B. JERMYN LODGE NO. 2 AND THE SCRANTON CITY POLICE OFFICERS

1. Bidding for positions shall take place once a year with the bidding starting on November 1st of each year.

2. Bids will take effect on the first changeover of each year at 0001 hours.

3. Bidding shall be open with each officer allowed one bid in seniority.

4. Each officer has twelve (12) hours to bid after being notified of his turn, or said officer shall lose his/her bid.

5. Each officer will have only one bid each year, unless an opening occurs during the bidding year.

6. If an opening occurs, the position will be posted for a period of five (5) days, and the officer interested will submit a bid, with the senior officer getting the position. The change will take effect on the next changeover.

7. If, for some reason, an officer who bids a radio car cannot work the position for which said officer bid, the officer will become a relief driver according to the officer's seniority.

8. Relief drivers and beats will be filled according to seniority.

9. Date and time in rank will prevail for seniority.

10. If the officer bids a beat and the beat is not being used, the officer will be assigned to whatever beat or position for which the said officer is needed.

11. Bidding will be department-wide for all positions, except those excluded by past contracts, past arbitration awards, and the present contract.

12. Officers who are off because of sickness will be contacted to bid in turn. However, if the officer is on sick leave, and the condition of the officer precludes his/her bidding, the officer will be able to bid and bump upon return to duty.

13. If the officer is on an approved leave of absence and returns to duty, the officer shall be placed at the bottom of the seniority list for the remainder of that year.

14. Officers on special duty will retain seniority upon their return to regular duty. Also, an officer serving in a position not covered by the Seniority Agreement will maintain his/her

seniority upon return to regular shift.

15. The Senior Sergeant working will work the Command Car, if qualified.

16. To be valid, a grievance must be submitted, in writing, and two (2) copies must be submitted to the police officers' Grievance Committee.

17. All positions in the Scranton City Police Department shall continue to be subject to the Seniority Agreement, with the exceptions of those positions which have been specifically exempted from the Seniority Agreement pursuant to the past arbitration awards and agreements between the parties.

18. Notwithstanding the Seniority Agreement and the attached Rules and Regulations which shall assist in the interpretation of the Seniority Agreement, and the grievance and arbitration procedure. It is expressly agreed between the parties that there may arise, from time to time, a need for the creation of a temporary and emergency type unit. The need for such unit shall be determined by the Superintendent of Police. It is further agreed that there shall not be a seniority principle applied, or bids for positions in this unit during the existence of said unit. If at the end of one year from the institution of said temporary and emergency unit, it is determined that the unit is necessary, or should become permanent, then such positions in said unit shall be bid in accordance with the Seniority Agreement. It is further agreed that prior experience working in the aid unit shall not be considered in any manner or as any type of prerequisite for said position. The Seniority Agreement shall apply in full except that the Superintendent of Police may assign at any one time a maximum of five percent (5%) of the total complement of officers to such units without regard to seniority, the length of time the unit has been in existence, and the length of the assignment.

EXHIBIT C

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN E.B. JERMYN LODGE NO. 2 OF THE FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE AND THE CITY OF SCRANTON REGARDING RETIREE HEALTH INSURANCE

WHEREAS, E.B. Jermyn Lodge No. 2 of the Fraternal Order of Police ("FOP") and the City of Scranton ("City") are party to a collective bargaining agreement requiring the provision, free of charge, of health insurance benefits to active members and to retired members of the bargaining unit, their spouses and dependents (the "Contractual Program") who retire therefrom; and

WHEREAS, the City has implemented a Program whereby it would require both active bargaining unit members who reach age 65 and retirees to accept, in lieu of the health insurance program provided to other bargaining unit members, a health insurance program comprised of Blue Cross 65-Special, Blue Shield 65-Special, Major Medical, Dental, Vision and Prescription that are coordinated to Medicare (hereinafter referred as to the "Substituted Program"); and

WHEREAS, there are differences in coverage between the Contractual Program and the substituted program as well as direct costs to the participant in the form of deductibles and Medicare participation fees that are not present in the Contractual Program.

-1-

WHEREAS, a dispute has arisen between the parties regarding the City's substitution of a health insurance program other than that which the employee was receiving at the time of retirement; and

٠

WHEREAS, the parties are desirous of amicably resolving the dispute and of reducing that resolution to writing.

NOW, THEREFORE, on the date last set forth below, the FOP and the City of Scranton agree as follows:

1. The City may substitute for retirees, their spouses and dependents the Blue Cross-65 Special, The Blue Shield-65 Special, Medicare, Major Medical, Dental, Vision and Prescription programs in place of the "Contractual Program" only in strict and literal accordance with the procedures and conditions that are contained in this Settlement Agreement.

2. The procedures and conditions described in Paragraph 1 are as follows:

a. No substitution shall occur unless and until the employee, regardless of age, terminates Active Employment.

٠.

Ł

-2-

b. At least one month (1) month prior to the substitution or upon notice of intent to retire, whichever occurs earlier, the Employee shall be provided with a precise written explanation, the initial form and any modification thereof which is to be first approved by the Union, explaining in detail how the benefits under the substituted health insurance package will be offered, how the reimbursement provided for in this Agreement shall be received and the employee's rights under this Settlement Agreement. The explanation shall include the name, address and telephone number of a representative of the City that the employee might reasonably be required to contact in order to preserve his or her rights under the Substituted Program and this Settlement Agreement.

c. All reimbursements provided for by this Agreement shall be made to the employee within twenty-five (25) business days of the City's receipt of an appropriate documentation indicating an expenditure by the employee, spouse or dependent.

d. The substituted insurance package shall be provided to the employee, spouse and dependent entirely free of charge, deductible or other expense that would not have been incurred under the health insurance package to which the employee was entitled prior to time of retirement.

-3-

e. The substituted health insurance package shall provide a level and quality of benefits equal or better in all substantive respects to the level and quality of benefits that the employee, spouse and dependents were receiving immediately prior to retirement. To the extent that the substituted health insurance package does not pre-pay all benefits to the same extent and in the same manner as the insurance package that the employee was entitled to receive prior to retirement, those expenses shall be immediately reimbursed to the employee under the procedures provided in this Settlement Agreement. Under no circumstances shall the employee, spouse or dependent be required to assume responsibility for any health insurance benefit or out-of-pocket costs that would not have been imposed upon that employee had the substitution not occurred. Included in these expenses by way of example shall be all Medicare premiums and fees, deductibles or other charges that the employee must incur in order to enjoy the "wraparound" elements of the substituted health insurance package. Such payments shall include any increases that from time to time hereinafter might be incurred in such premiums and other such charges.

f. No retiree shall be required to accept the substituted health insurance package unless and until his spouse

-4-

Į

and dependents are eligible for coverage under the same circumstances and conditions as described in this Settlement Agreement as relating to the employee or unless said individual continues to be covered under the bargaining unit's regular health plan.

g. Both time for performance and complete compliance with the performance are of the essence in this Settlement Agreement. The failure of the City of Scranton, its officers, agents and employees to comply literally with any substantive provision of this Agreement shall, at the option of the Union in its sole and exclusive discretion, immediately result in the voiding of this Settlement Agreement in its entirety after fifteen (15) business days' written notice to the City Solicitor during which time the City may cure the failure to comply. In the event that such voidance should occur, the City of Scranton agrees to immediately and without delay reinstate the retiree, spouse and dependents into the same health insurance program that they were receiving prior to retirement.

h. In the event that the voidance of this Agreement as described in the immediately-preceding paragraph should occur and the City should fail to comply with its obligations thereunder, or in the event that the Union should determine to specifically enforce this Settlement Agreement, the Union shall first be required to proceed through the Expedited Arbitration Procedure as follows:

١

-5-

 (i) The neutral arbitrator shall be John Skonier, or such other arbitrator as he shall designate if he is unavailable to hear and determine the dispute within the time frame provided by this Settlement Agreement.

(ii) A hearing on the FOP's assertion regarding a violation of the Settlement Agreement shall be held within five (5) business days of the City's and Arbitrator's receipt of a written notice demanding arbitration.

(iii) There shall be no transcripts of the hearing and no briefs shall be filed.

(iv) The Arbitrator shall be required to render a written award within forty-eight (48) hours of the close of the hearing. If either party requests an opinion substantiating the Award, the opinion may be prepared and rendered by the Arbitrator within thirty (30) days of the Award.

i. If the FOP should prevail in said arbitration proceeding and the City fails to comply with that Award in a reasonable period, the City agrees that the Union may seek injunctive relief in the Court of Common Pleas of Lackawanna

-6-

County to compel compliance with this Agreement and the Arbitrator's Award. If such relief is sought and the City's failure to comply with the terms of this Settlement Agreement is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Court, the City agrees that irreparable harm is occurring to said retirees and that injunctive relief is appropriate. If injunctive relief is granted, the City further agrees to pay all reasonable attorneys fees and costs incurred by the Union in securing said injunctive relief.

j. Within ten (10) business days of the execution of this Agreement, the City shall reinstate all active employees, if any, to the same health insurance program as enjoyed by all other bargaining unit members and shall reimburse all affected employees and retirees for all additional expenses as described in the Settlement Agreement as may have been incurred by them, their spouses and dependents commencing from the date on which their insurance packages were substituted.

-7-

3. In consideration for the City's execution of this Settlement Agreement and full compliance therewith, the Union agrees to execute this Settlement Agreement, to withdraw without prejudice its pending grievance and Demand for Arbitration and to comply in good faith with the terms of this Settlement Agreement.

CITY OF SCRANTON

vivul2 an U-BY:

DATE:

8-

E.B. JERMYN LODGE NO. 2 OF THE FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE

BY: DATE:

CITY of SCR.ADM.

6000

9774 84C LTL 兄

01/51/01 10:18

EXHIBIT "D"

DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY OF THE CITY OF SCRANTON POLICE DEPARTMENT

This AGREEMENT made this 14th day of May, 1999, by and between the CITY OF SCRANTON and E. B. JERMYN LODGE NO. 2 OF THE FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE provides as follows:.

I. **DEFINITIONS**

1.1. "Confirmatory Test" means a second analytical procedure to identify the presence of a specific drug or drug metabolite which is independent of the initial screening test and which uses a different technique and chemical principal from that of the initial screening test in order to confirm the reliability and accuracy of the initial test. Such technique shall be either a gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) or such other technique that is scientifically demonstrated to be as or more accurate than GC/MS.

1.2. "Confirmed Positive Test" means the results of a confirmatory test that has established the presence of drugs or drug metabolites.

1.3. "City" means the City of Scranton.

1.4. "Employee" means a police officer in the Police Department of the City of Scranton.

1.5. "Effective Date" means June 1, 1999.

1.6. "Follow-up Testing" means chemical testing at unannounced intervals to insure that an individual is maintaining abstinence from the abusive drug.

1.7. "Illegal Drugs" means those drugs included in Schedules I through V of the Controlled Substances Act ("CSA"), but not when used pursuant to a valid prescription as described in this Policy or when used as otherwise authorized by law.

1.8. "Initial or Screening Test" means an immunoassay screening of urine for drugs or drug metabolites.

1.9. "Chief of Police" means the Chief of Police of the City of Scranton or his designee.

1.10. "Policy" means the Drug Testing Policy as currently promulgated and as it may be amended hereinafter from time to time by the parties.

1.11. "Positive Test" means the result of an initial or screening test that has established the presence of drugs or drug metabolites in a specimen.

1.12. "Random Test" means a system of unannounced drug testing unsupported by reasonable suspicion that is administered in a statistically random manner to a group so that all persons within that group have an equal probability of selection.

1.13. "Reasonable suspicion" means conduct, or a course of conduct on the part of an employee, regardless of place of occurrence, that is symptomatic of illegal drug use. Such conduct need not cause impairment of the employee's ability to perform his duties and responsibilities as a worker. Such suspicion may occur either by first hand observation or by credible report as determined by the Chief of Police.

II. TESTED SUBSTANCES

2.1. Testing as provided by this Policy shall be, at a minimum and not by way of limitation, for marijuana, cocaine, opiates, amphetamines and phencyclidine.

2.2. At his/her discretion, the Mayor may test for any illegal drugs and may negotiate Cutoff Levels consistent with the purposes of this Policy.

2.3. This section does not prohibit procedures reasonably incident to analysis of a specimen for controlled substances (e.g., determination of pH. on tests for specific gravity, creatinine concentration, or presence of adulterants).

III. INDIVIDUALS SUBJECT TO TESTING

3.1. Any employee of the City on or after the Effective Date shall be subject to the testing procedures set forth herein upon the determination of "reasonable suspicion" that is first made on or after the Effective Date or in accordance with the random testing procedures set forth herein.

IV. ADMINISTRATION OF TESTING

4.1. All testing under this Policy shall be performed by a mutual acceptable laboratory that maintains a certification to perform drug testing under the Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS") Mandatory Guidelines for Federal Workplace Drug Testing Programs.

4.2. All tests shall be conducted by use of a split sample method.

4.3. The Chief of Police is directed and authorized to take such steps and to incur such resources as are reasonable and necessary to develop, implement and maintain the drug testing program provided by this Policy, including the employment of such experts and other personnel that he/she deems appropriate.

4.4. Under no circumstances shall the Chief of Police or anyone acting on behalf of the City utilize, or threaten to utilize, random testing of employees other than as set forth herein.

4.5. The individual to be tested, at his or her option, shall be permitted to substitute a specimen of blood rather than urine.

V. DUAL TESTING

5.1. Specimens which test negative as a result of an initial screening shall be reported as negative to the Chief of Police and will not be subject to any further testing, unless special processing of the specimen is desired by the Chief of Police because adulteration or dilution is suspected with reasonable and credible evidence.

5.2. In the event that a urine sample is identified as being positive on the initial screening test, the individual, in strict accordance with this Policy, may request confirmatory testing using gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) techniques. All confirmation shall be made by quantative analysis.

5.3. Confirmatory tests for opiates shall include a test for 6-monoacetylmorphine ("MAM") if the initial screening test is positive for morphine.

5.4. Each specimen shall be examined for any evidence of adulteration or substitution.

VI. DRUG TESTING PROCEDURE FOR EMPLOYEES

6.1. Individuals who are employed by the City on or after the Effective Date shall be tested for the use of illegal drugs in accordance with the procedure established in this Section.

6.2. In the event that the Chief of Police should determine that reasonable suspicion exists that an employee is using illegal drugs, the Chief of Police shall direct that employee in writing to appear for a drug test in accordance with this Section.

6.3. Employees who have been tested under the foregoing provision and have yielded a positive Confirmatory Test shall be given an immediate and confidential appointment with the Chief of Police. The employee will be given an opportunity at that time to inspect the report, to discuss it with the Chief of Police, to review the Chain-of-Custody, and, upon request, made in writing and received by the Chief of Police within twenty-four (24) hours thereafter, to have a second analysis of the sample originally provided performed by an accredited independent laboratory that has been selected by the employee. Such second analysis shall be entirely at the employee's expense and the fee therefore shall be posted prior to submission of the test in accordance with the procedure set forth herein. If the test should reveal that the original positive result was incorrect, the money shall be promptly reimbursed to the employee. The transfer of the sample from the first laboratory to the second laboratory will be a direct transfer between those laboratories and will be their responsibility. The second test will be required to be performed promptly and a detailed report thereof shall be provided to the Chief of Police and to the Employee.

6.4. If the positive result is not contested or is reconfirmed, the procedure in the following paragraphs will be followed. If it is determined that any error (all of which, regardless of nature, shall be considered to be material and fatal to the reliability of the entire process) has been made in following the prescribed procedures set forth herein, or if the result in the second test is inconsistent with there having been a positive result in the first test, the result of the first test will thereafter be disregarded, considered a compete nullity and all documentation relating thereto expunged and destroyed from all City files.

6.5. If a positive test is demonstrated, the employee shall be offered the opportunity to waive any right of hearing and, upon such waiver, shall be suspended for a period of thirty (30) days, during which time the employee may seek treatment/counseling in a rehabilitation facility. In the event the employee receives treatment/counseling, such an employee may receive pay by using available sick leave, vacation or other accrued leave during the period of such counseling.

6.6. If the employee selects treatment/counseling, the Chief of Police shall make appropriate arrangements to assist in the implementation of that treatment/counseling program. Such treatment/counseling shall be kept in confidence by the Chief of Police.

6.7. After the employee has completed treatment/counseling and has committed to the completion of an after-care plan, the employee shall be reinstated to full employment with the City, but will be subject to unannounced testing of not more than once a month for a period of three (3) months after return to employment. If the employee does not test positive on any of the tests conducted during this period, and is otherwise free of any disabling condition, no further testing will occur without additional reasonable suspicion or as permitted pursuant to Section 6.10.

Additionally, and notwithstanding any other provision herein to the contrary, officers assigned to the Drug Unit may be tested immediately prior to the commencement of such assignment and on a random basis at reasonable intervals during the course of such assignment.

6.8. If the employee tests positive on any of such tests, he or she will be given the

opportunity to review the results in accordance with the review procedure set forth above. If the employee fails to seek such review or if, upon such review, the positive result is not successfully contested, he or she will be subject to termination from employment with the City. If the positive result is successfully contested, the employee will not be disqualified on the basis of the original test, but will instead be given additional testing as part of the series of tests herein provided, which testing must be successfully completed before further reasonable suspicion must be required for additional testing.

6.9. If the employee fails substantially to follow and complete his/her prescribed treatment or after-care program, he or she will be evaluated and counseled by the Chief of Police. If such failure continues, the employee will be subject to dismissal from employment with the City.

6.10. Random testing of the employees described in Section 6.7 shall be permitted upon written notice two (2) hours in advance of reporting to the designated laboratory. The employee cannot leave Police Headquarters after being notified of the impending test.

6.11. A second positive test within two (2) years of an initial prior positive test, other than as specified in Sections 6.7 and 6.8, shall result in a forty five (45) day suspension and be treated as specified in Section 6.5, except that such employee may only utilize available vacation time for purposes of pay.

6.12. Another positive test within a two (2) year period following the prior, second positive test shall be subject the employee to dismissal.

6.13. Any time an employee who has previously tested positive shall test free of drugs for the following two (2) years, and then test positive, that test shall be considered as a first positive test for purposes of Section 6.5.

6.14. No employee shall be retained as an employee of the City upon testing positive more than three (3) times within twenty (20) years.

VII. GENERAL PROVISIONS

7.1. Each individual required to be tested under this Policy shall be required to provide valid samples for testing in accordance with this Policy, to supply the information necessary to identify the samples, and otherwise to cooperate in the performance of the testing procedure.

7.2. It is the intention of this Policy that all testing be conducted in a manner that will protect the rights and dignity of those who are to be subjected to this testing. The Chief of Police will take the necessary steps, in accordance with this Policy, to safeguard the dignity and self-esteem of persons tested hereunder.

7.3. All sample collection procedures shall be performed under the direction of a qualified Medical Technician or Assistant to be selected by the administering medical/testing facility.

7.4. The tests provided by this Policy shall be carried out under detailed procedures established by the Chief of Police which ensure confidentiality, secure Chain of Custody, and which are valid and reliable in accordance with current professional and industry standards. All reports shall be sent directly to the Chief of Police, marked "confidential," and shall be opened only by the Chief of Police, personally.

7.5. Under no circumstances shall the Chief of Police or anyone employed by the City or anyone else release information obtained as a result of this Policy to any individuals who do not possess an absolute need to know such information as an essential part of accomplishing the goals of this Program.

E. B JERMYN LODGE NO. 2 **OF THE** FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE

/s / F.O.P. President

CITY OF SCRANTON

/s /

Mayor